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OVERVIEW OF THE COMPANY

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Qingling Motors Co. Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) is principally engaged in the production and sale of Isuzu
light, medium and heavy-duty trucks, pick-up trucks, multi-purpose
vehicles and diesel and petrol engines. All of the production facilities
of the Group are located in the People's Republic of China (the
“PRC") and substantially all the sales of the Group are also made
in the PRC. The Group had export sales to Japan during the year,
which accounted for approximately 0.39% of the Group's turnover
for the year.

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

The Group had 2,884 employees as at 31 December 2014.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present the annual report of Qingling Motors Co.
Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2014 for your review.

2014 RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the Company sold 55,388
trucks and vehicles, a decrease of 1.4% over the 56,173 trucks and
vehicles sold last year. Revenue was RMB5.80 billion, an increase
of 0.3% over RMB5.78 billion as recorded last year. Profit after tax
was RMB450 million, an increase of 18.8% over RMB380 million as
recorded last year.

REVIEW OF OPERATION

China Economic was entering “new normal”. The difficulties
of the real economy aggravated, in particular the demand for
manufacturing market diminished. The overall sales of commodity
cars continued to drop at an increasing rate on a month to
month basis as the competition got tough. Facing severe market
conditions, the Company was determined based on market-
oriented approach to mobilize every positive elements to explore,
in full effort, the domestic and overseas markets. By technology
innovation and enhancing the fundamental quality of the
management and staff through market force, we have achieved a
relatively favourable operation results.

1. Adopt a market-oriented approach and spare no effort in
exploring the market. 1) Build sales and marketing network
in counties and towns with an aim to optimize both quality
and quantity to achieve an increase of over 40% of the sales
in counties and towns over the corresponding period of the
previous year and a balanced layout of provinces, cities and
counties is achieved; 2) strengthen marketing and promotion
effort at beginning and end of the year through our intensive
multi-level, multi-mode and multi-location  promotional
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Qingling heavy-duty trucks were launched in the
Chongging International Car Show

advertisements and promotion campaigns in order to promote
a surge in the sales of commodity cars; 3) lower the price of
Light — trucks 100P and further optimize the performance-to-
price ratio for securing good results in the competitive product
market; 4) secure new orders from big clients such as courier,
national power companies and coal mine and car modifying
factories.

Develop vehicles with broadened specifications to satisfy
customer demand. 1) The completion of development,
demarcation, testing, and registration for National IV pick-up
trucks with 4K horsepower and public announcement was
made. This enriched the pick-ups portfolio; 2) the design, trial
production, testing, and registration of wide-body 3-seater
light-duty trucks was completed and public announcement
was made. This increased the variety of our cars; 3) public
announcement in respect of the development of 4Z dual fuel
petrol/natural gas pick-up trucks was made and this satisfied
customers who have concern on environmental protection
and cost. In addition, we also develop derived models such as
700P trucks with short wheelbase and transportation vehicle
for hazardous and chemical products.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

Strengthen internal management and enhance the
competitiveness of enterprise. 1) Focus on the adjustment
and upgrading of the quality of management, strengthen
the quality control over components produced in-house and
outsourced components at various stages from delivery to
factory, production to aftersales; 2) establish and operate
a production information management system to improve
the predictability and accuracy of the product output and
enhance the efficiency of management; 3) continue to focus
on reviewing, rationalizing, maintaining and protecting the
underlying management system, and to continue to improve
the equipment and optimize the activities so as to enhance
the reliability, convenience and automation of the equipment;
4) formulate and issue the Technological improvements,
management progress management approach ( {EfiieiiE - &
EEFEIEYPDL) ) to form a normal mechanism for encouraging
innovation capability among all staff.

Continue to focus on the building of our team of experts.
Put in-depth effort in promoting training examination and
promotion assessment for our staff with in-depth technical
knowledge with local universities and technical schools so
that the knowledge of the staff of the Company will continue
to improve on the track of the Company. At the end of last
year, there were about 2000 technical staff who joined the
training examination voluntarily, representing about 80% of
total operational staff and 1253, 461 and 124 were assessed
as intermediate grade workers, senior workers and technicians
and senior technicians respectively after training and
examination.

Achieve significant stage success in projects of heavy-
duty trucks and engines of heavy-duty trucks. With the
collaboration from both Qingling and Isuzu, following the
first heavy-duty trucks engine rolled off the production line
at the end of March, the first heavy-duty truck rolled off the
production line in mid-April, the first batch of 12 trucks for trial
sale were handed over to customers at the end of May and
exhibited in Chongging Auto Fair (EE/SHE) in June, and a
small-batch of 151 trucks were launched to sales in the second
half of the year. Our vehicles were ready to take challenge
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

from customers and market and we would follow up the
customer responses with prompt remedial action. We have
achieved satisfying results in offering all-rounded specification
of products subsequently and the building of sales and
marketing and services network.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

Currently, the development trend of the Chinese economy, the
dynamic of market demand and competition for commodity cars,
the internal strength and weakness of Qingling, are all undergoing
profound changes. An enterprise will be required to based on
market as the core value, through review and reform the internal
structure and system as well as management, mobilize all positive
elements to service the market and support the development of the
market. Our focuses in 2015 are as follows:

1. To proactively adapt to the new normal, continue to promote
reform and innovation in thoughts, mechanism and technology,
breaking new ground by reform and innovation.

2. Place great emphasis in building of our team in order to provide
talent for corporate reform and innovation.

3. At the occasion of the 30th anniversary of the Qingling and Isuzu
joint venture, further reinforce cooperation with foreign parties and
enhance the opening-up to outside to promote the development of
the enterprise.

4. Build the innovative “large-scale marketing, large-scale
development, large-scale production, large-scale logistics” (K
BiH - K% - K&EE - K¥R) system to enhance the core
competiveness of the enterprise.

Looking ahead, the Company will use every possible means to
mobilize all positive elements while focusing on the market to
manage actively all the key aspects of its production and operation.
We will put every effort to achieve a sound operation with
significant growth for the purpose of bringing satisfactory return to
our investors.

20 March 2015
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS

Mr. DU Weidong, aged 47, has been an executive Director and a
member of the remuneration committee since 5 June 2013, and
was appointed as the chairman of the Board of the Company and
the chairman of the nomination committee since 3 September 2013.
Mr. DU holds a bachelor degree in Engineering. He graduated from
Gansu University of Technology, majoring in Industrial and Civil
Architecture, and is now taking part time undergraduate courses in
the Mechanical Design, Manufacturing and Automation Department
in Chongging University. It has been over 23 years since he took
his first job in the factory of the Company after his graduation in
1992. Mr. DU took training courses in the Equipment Division at the
very beginning, and later worked as an assistant engineer, officer-
in-charge and deputy director of the Planning and Construction
Department. Mr. DU was then transferred to the Marketing
Department in 1998, and he worked on the frontline of the market
for 12 consecutive years, during which, he used to be responsible
for the marketing activities in Guangdong, Fujian, Hainan, Shandong
and Henan and worked as the deputy director and the director of
the Sales Department of the Company and the assistant to the
general manager and the deputy general manager of the Group. He
was reassigned to the Manufacturing Department in 2010, and he
was sent to Isuzu to study the IMM, being the Isuzu Manufacturing
Management, after which, he began to take charge of the
manufacturing, export, equipment and safety-related issues of the
Company and the Group. Mr. DU was appointed as the deputy
general manager of the Company from June 2012 to 22 January
2014. He was appointed as the general manager of Qingling Motors
(Group) Company Limited (the "Qingling Group”), the controlling
Shareholder, in February 2013. He was appointed as the chairman of
Qingling Group in September 2013.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. GAO Jianmin, aged 55, has been an executive Director since
28 April 1994. Mr. GAO is currently an executive director and
managing director of Silver Grant International Industries Limited
(listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong
Kong Stock Exchange”), Stock Code: 171) and an executive director
of Jiangxi Copper Company Limited (listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, Stock Code: 358). Mr. GAO has more than 28 years of
experience in finance, industrial investment and development. He
holds a Bachelor degree in engineering from Qinghua University.

Mr. Makoto TANAKA, aged 63, has been an executive Director
since 17 June 2008. Mr. TANAKA is also the general manager of the
Company. Mr. TANAKA graduated from Nihon University. He joined
Isuzu Motors Limited (“Isuzu”) in April 1975. He served in different
positions in Isuzu from December 1994 to April 2005, including
supervisor of assembly team of Large Size Automobiles Technology
Department, director of production coordination department of
production technology planning office and director of PT public
works department. He was president of Isuzu Engine Manufacturing
(Thailand) Co. Ltd. during the period from May 2005 to April 2007.
He returned to Isuzu in April 2007 and served as PT production
executive director.



o AR
N 4

e
Eh) it
B 2

> T8
5 8 4
¥

FHBELE 595 XN
MABIEEE - W — N N\THF
MAMARtT®RABNIIIET
MEBR RN _FHER
HraREEERE RALER
—NANENEMAFEFER &%
MEQER—AANFOEAE
TRATHAF RRHEBET
BMEBRRK  #BEANEHLI K
LREEBMARTRESEG - &
R-ZFE-—ZEFNMAFEEAREE
HARAGHHEFEHIGER
HER-_T-—_FMWAREHT
RABHEEHRNTRE -

B@I%LE B3 BT =
FHA=THRERATESE -
BARSARBIWBIEEE - BT
EHRERBAMEBEERRAEE
MEANBHEREE - HEFE
BRDOIEEHBHAE R  HE
Z EETARBRFAFZKIREAR
BNEBRRE - B—ANANEFR
ERECTEEMFELZEST
XRIAME BEMEEMNE
BEZBERERBREERS
B RELEAEBNETELEN
MAEZEREEETHNHEE - HH
THEZE ABRERTEMHT
X 2ETEREEMIERT
MHETEEZBEBERE  ERI
REMER BAELERB/ERSE
EEegE  TETEREE
ZTBRERAEEERENA
RABIZEEZER -

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Masashi HARADA, aged 59, graduated from the Faculty of
Law of Kyushu University. He joined the Labor Managing Section of
Kawasaki Plant (||l T4 5R) of Isuzu in April 1980, and served
as the Section Chief of Thailand Division of Southeast Asia Region
(RE I FEAZR) in 1992. Mr. HARADA was re-designated
to Isuzu Motors Co., (Thailand) Ltd. (EB A +E5/9E A R]) in April
1994, and was re-designated back to Isuzu in April 1998. He then
successively served in various capacities such as the Deputy Chief
of Labor Managing Section of Fujisawa Plant (/2 T4 7R &),
the Head of General Personnel Department (7% AE&BEEE) and
the Executive Officer of Administration Department (&332 3FF9E01T
% 8). He was re-designated to Nippon Fruehauf Company Ltd. (H
KEEF AR E1t) as a Managing Director in April 2010, and was
subsequently re-designated back to Isuzu as a Senior Executive
Officer in April 2012.

Mr. ZENG Jianjiang, aged 53, has been an executive Director
since 30 October 2013. He is also the deputy general manager of
the Company. Mr. ZENG holds a bachelor's degree and received
education in Geography Faculty of Southwest China Normal
University. He previously worked at the Education Office and the
League Committee of Sichuan Vinylon Factory under Sinopec
and the Leading Group Office of the Three Gorges Project of
the People’'s Government of Chongging. Starting from 1988, Mr.
ZENG also held positions as an officer-in-chief of the Industrial
Bureau of the Planning Committee of Chongaging, and the Director
of the Automobile Equipment Bureau of the Economic and
Information Technology Commission of Chongging. Mr. ZENG
had worked at the economic department of the government for
many years and was responsible for the dispatch and coordination
of economic operations. He is familiar with the automobiles and
spare parts industry and has involved in the management of the
planning, development and launch of vital projects of Chongging’'s
automobiles and spare parts industry. Mr. ZENG is currently the
deputy general manager of Qingling Group, and the chairman of the
board of EEE P EIER A A, a member of Qingling Group.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LONG Tao, aged 63, has been an independent non-executive
Director since 28 April 1994. He is also a member of the audit
committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination
committee of the Company. Mr. LONG graduated from Research
Institute for Fiscal Science, Ministry of Finance, majoring in
accounting. Mr. LONG holds a master's degree in economics. He
had served at Accountancy Division of Central University of Finance
and Economics, and New York office of KPMG Peat Marwick. Mr.
LONG had acted as a member of Securities Issue and Approval
Committee of China Securities Regulatory Commission and
member of Chinese accounting expert panel for China-Hong Kong
Securities Team. Mr. LONG is currently an associate professor
of the Accountancy Division of Central University of Finance
and Economics and the Chairman of Beijing Haiwen Investment
Consultants Inc.. Mr. LONG has extensive knowledge and
experience in corporate finance, accounting, audit, assets appraisal,
restructuring of enterprise and listing. Mr. LONG also serves as
the independent non-executive director of Crown International
Corporation Limited (listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange,
Stock Code: 727) and Beijing North Star Company Limited (listed
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 588). Mr. LONG
resigned as the independent non-executive director of China Asset
Management Co., Ltd in 2012.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. SONG Xiaojiang, aged 64, has been an independent non-
executive Director since 28 April 1994. He is also the chairman and
a member of the audit committee and the remuneration committee
and a member of the nomination committee of the Company. Mr.
SONG is general manager of Chongging Ping Zheng Law Office,
a member of the China Economic Law Association and the China
Lawyers Association, and a council member of the Chongging
Lawyers Association, a vice chairman of the Foreign Affairs
Committee of Chongging Lawyers Association and a member of
the Chongqging Legal Academy. Mr. SONG has been a lawyer and
notary for 28 years. Mr. SONG graduated from South West Institute
of Political Science and Law and also studied international law in the
China University of Political Science and Law and foreign economic
law at Shenzhen University. He was formerly vice chairman of
Chongging Notary Office and vice chairman of Chongging Foreign
Law Office.

Mr. XU Bingjin, aged 76, has been an independent non-executive
Director since 22 September 2004. He is also a member of the
audit committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination
committee of the Company. Mr. XU is the president of China Europe
Economic Association for Technical and Economic Cooperation,
vice president of the World Trade Organization Institute, part-
time professor of Shanghai Foreign Trade College and senior
consultant of Northeastern University. He holds a Bachelor Degree
in Engineering Economics from Jilin Industrial University and is a
senior engineer. Mr. XU has been a former assistant to the minister
of the Ministry of China Foreign Trade and Economic Cooperation,
deputy chief of the Delegation of China Entry to GATT and the
Delegation of China Entry to WTO. He is currently an independent
non-executive director of Brilliance China Automotive Holdings
Limited (listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, Stock Code:
1114).

Mr. LIU Tianni, aged 51, has been an independent non-executive
Director since 31 May 2011. He is also a member of the audit
committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination
committee of the Company. Mr. LIU is also the executive Director,
the chairman and the chief executive officer of Wonderful Sky
Financial Group Holdings Limited (listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, Stock Code: 1260), an executive director and deputy
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

managing director of Silver Grant International Industries Limited
(listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 171) and
an independent non-executive director of Chongging Iron & Steel
Company Limited (listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange,
Stock Code: 1053) and Luoyang Glass Company Limited (listed
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 1108). Mr. LIU
graduated from Beijing Normal University with a master degree
in science. He has over 15 years of experience in corporate
administration and trade business. In October 2008, Mr. LIU was
awarded “Outstanding Young Chinese Entrepreneur of the World”
by Asiaweek, as an acknowledgement of his excellent corporate
management and prominent business strategies.

SUPERVISORS

Ms. MIN Qing, aged 47, has been the Supervisor representing
the Shareholders since 15 June 2006 and is also the Chairman
of the Supervisory Committee. Ms. MIN is the deputy secretary
of the Party Committee and the Chairman of the Workers Union
of Qingling Group, and has 25 years of experience in corporate
management. Ms. MIN graduated from Chongging Communication
College in Mechanical Engineering in 1988 and had undergraduate
education. She also studied corporate management in Japan.

Ms. ZHOU Hong, aged 63, has been a Supervisor representing
the Shareholders since 11 June 1997. Ms. ZHOU is the deputy
secretary of the Communist Party Discipline Commission of the
Company and a political specialist. She has 39 years of experience
in management. Ms. ZHOU graduated from Sichuan Party Cadre
Distant Learning Institute in 1988, specializing in economic
management.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LEI Bin, aged 40, has been a Supervisor representing the staff
and workers since 6 June 2012. Mr. LEIl graduated from Hunan
University, specializing in international finance, and obtained the
bachelor degree in economics. He joined the Company from July
1997 until the present. Mr. LEl was served as a vice minister of
comprehensive plan. He is the minister of the financial department
of Qingling Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY RESPONSIBLE FOR HONG KONG
AFFAIRS

TUNG Tat Chiu, Michael, aged 52, is a practising solicitor in Hong
Kong and the senior partner of Tung & Co., the Hong Kong legal
advisor of the Company, and a China Appointed Attesting Officer.
He holds a B.A. degree in law and accounting from the University
of Manchester, the United Kingdom. He has over 20 years of
experience as a practising lawyer in Hong Kong. Mr. TUNG joined
the Company in April 1994. Mr. TUNG is also the company secretary
of a number of companies listed in Hong Kong.



EEEgHE

MR

REESBEKIIAKR  28KE
AEHEERREDORA - BEH
RAEARRNGZEL  BREAAE
BRAEHAERIE JFEFES
o UHARAMNBERRE W
SRA - RiE EREER
FhEREEGRL2EER
BARNESRBRIFHOARS
REREBNABEFOERERMA
RAIMBRAS  UARFERRE
MANSEOETERNEE -

AEZSTERE REFHA
NAINGERE RSB WERM
Htb B EN - AEFER/Y
BHREAGHRZE  SRENY
BEENASEMMTE  RER
EfsEmE -

AEFEFARH TESTSRIE
REREFRENH BRI LE
ERMEMMBEOETERE - K%
REER EF KBEESAE
BABFEERBERILEARRA
BRRETHERTR

AEFEHARANEZEIIER
PIRGHRBENRERTME
BARRBWERAMZ T MED °

HE
EFETE

FE e EE
—E-RAF=ZA=-+H

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE’'S REPORT

Dear Shareholders:

Since the establishment of the Supervisory Committee, each
member has been performing his duty in accordance with the
Company’s Articles of Association with a view of protecting the
interests of shareholders and the Company. We have attended
the board meetings and have given our opinions regarding the
business development, market expansion, technological reform,
basic management and team building of the Company during board
meetings. We have also monitored the guiding ideology of the
management and considered whether the decisions made by the
management were in compliance with state laws and whether they
were appropriate for the development of the Company and were in
the interests of shareholders.

According to its power, the Supervisory Committee has reviewed
evidence of the Company’s accounts, books, reports and other
accounting information from time to time. In our opinion, the
financial statements have been properly prepared while the
accounting principles and the method of financial management
adopted are in compliance with relevant rules and regulations.

We have carefully examined the financial statements, the
Directors’ Report and the proposal for appropriation of profit to
be presented before the forthcoming annual general meeting by
the Board of Directors. In our opinion, the chairman of the board,
directors, managers and senior management have not engaged
in any malpractices which would be prejudicial to the interests of
shareholders and employees of the Company.

The Supervisory Committee is satisfied with the performance as
well as the economic results of the Company, and we are confident
about the future development of the Company.

MIN Qing
Chairman of the Supervisory Committee

Chongging, the PRC
20 March 2015
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Board is pleased to present its annual report and audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2014.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the production and sale of Isuzu
light, medium and heavy-duty trucks, pick-up trucks, multi-purpose
vehicles and diesel and petrol engines. The activities of its principal
subsidiaries, an associate and joint ventures are set out in notes 35,
19 and 20 respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2014 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 85. The directors recommend
the payment of a final dividend of RMBO0.16 per share to the
shareholders whose names appear in the register of members on 10
June 2015, amounting to approximately RMB397,163,000.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group incurred approximately RMB27,680,000
on acquisition of property, plant and equipment for expansion of its
production facilities.

Details of these and other movements during the year in property,
plant and equipment and investment properties of the Group are set
out in note 15 and note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 29 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

According to the Company's Articles of Association, the amount of
profit available for distribution shall be deemed to be the amount
of profit determined in accordance with the relevant accounting
principles and financial regulations applicable to companies
established in the PRC (“PRC GAAP"). The Company’s profit
available for distribution to shareholders as at 31 December 2014
was the retained profit of approximately RMB1,699,681,000 (2013:
approximately RMB1,622,253,000).

The profit of the Company for a financial year shall be applied in

accordance with the following order:

() making up losses;

(i) allocation to statutory surplus reserve fund,

(iii)  if there are preference shares, payment of dividends in respect
of preference shares;

(iv) allocation to discretionary surplus reserve fund; and

(v)  payment of dividends in respect of ordinary shares.

The detailed proportion of distribution in respect of items (ii) to (v)
above for any financial year shall be formulated by the Board in
accordance with the operational conditions of the Company and its
development requirements and shall be submitted to shareholders’
general meeting for approval.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

The directors and supervisors of the Company during the year and

up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

DU Weidong (Chairman)

Naotoshi TSUTSUMI (Vice Chairman)

(resigned on 20 March 2015)

GAO Jianmin
Makoto TANAKA (General Manager)
Masashi HARADA

(appointed on 11 June 2014)

Ryozo TSUKIOKA
(resigned on 11 June 2014)

PAN Yong
(resigned on 20 March 2015)

ZENG Jianjiang

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

LONG Tao
SONG Xiaojiang
XU Bingjin
LIU Tianni

Supervisors:
MIN Qing

ZHOU Hong
LEI Bin
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

All the directors other than Mr. DU Weidong, Mr. Masashi HARADA
and Mr. ZENG Jianjiang were re-elected as directors to hold office
from the date of the annual general meeting for 2012 to the date of
the annual general meeting for 2015.

Mr. Masashi HARADA was appointed as a director to hold office
from 10 June 2014 to the date of the annual general meeting for
2015.

According to the Company's articles of association, the term of
office of each of the directors of the current term will expire at the
date of the annual general meeting for 2015 and shall be eligible for
re-election.

The following retiring directors have notified the Company the
following matters:

(1) according to the new regulation regarding cadre office
management, it is inappropriate for Mr. DU Weidong, being
the chairman of the board of directors of the controlling
shareholder, Qingling Group, to have a concurrent position in
the Company, and as such, Mr. DU Weidong has proposed to
retire as an executive director on expiry of his term on the date
of the annual general meeting for 2015 and will not seek for
re-election. Mr. DU Weidong will also resign as the chairman, a
member and the chairman of the nomination committee and a
member of the remuneration committee of the Company upon
his retirement as an executive director;

(2)  Mr. Masashi HARADA has proposed to retire as an executive
director on expiry of his term on the date of the annual general
meeting for 2015 and will not seek for re-election due to the
change of work allocation; and
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

(3)  Mr. XU Bingjin has proposed to retire as an independent non-
executive director on expiry of his term on the date of the
annual general meeting for 2015 and will not seek for re-
election as he needs to devote more time to other work
engagements and commitments. Mr. XU Bingjin will also
resign as a member of the audit committee, remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Company upon
his retirement as an independent non-executive director.

The Board has nominated the other retiring directors, namely
Mr. GAO Jianmin, Mr. Makoto TANAKA, Mr. ZENG Jianjiang, Mr.
LONG Tao, Mr. SONG Xiaojiang and Mr. LIU Tianni, as candidates
for election as executive directors and independent non-executive
directors respectively for the next term of office commencing on
the date of the annual general meeting for 2015 until the date of the
annual general meeting for the year of 2018 of the Company (the
“Next Term”). Resolutions will be proposed at the annual general
meeting for 2015 to elect the said retiring directors (except Mr. DU
Weidong, Mr. Masashi HARADA and Mr. XU Bingjin) as executive
directors and independent non-executive directors respectively for
the Next Term.

In addition, Isuzu has nominated Mr. Keiitirou MAEGAKI as a
candidate for election as a new executive director for the Next
Term to fill the vacancy in the office of director occasioned by the
resignation of Mr. Naotoshi TSUTSUMI and Mr. Naoto HAKAMATA
as a candidate for election as a new executive director for the Next
Term; Qingling Group has nominated Mr. LI Juxing as a candidate
for election as a new executive director for the Next Term to fill the
vacancy in the office of director occasioned by the resignation of Mr.
PAN Yong and Mr. HE Yong as a candidate for election as a new
executive director for the Next Term; and the Board has nominated
Mr. LIU Erh Fei as a candidate for election as a new independent
nonexecutive director for the Next Term. Accordingly, resolutions
will be proposed at the annual general meeting for 2015 to elect Mr.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

HE Yong, Mr. Keiitirou MAEGAKI, Mr. Naoto HAKAMATA, Mr. LI
Juxing and Mr. LIU Erh Fei as executive directors and independent
non-executive director respectively for the Next Term. The Company
will convene a board meeting after completion of the election of
directors for the Next Term to appoint Mr. HE Yong as the chairman
of the Company, a member and the chairman of the nomination
committee and a member of the remuneration committee of the
Company; Mr. Keiitirou MAEGAKI as the vice chairman of the
Company; and Mr. LIU Erh Fei as a member of the audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee of the
Company.

All the supervisors were re-elected and appointed as supervisors to
hold office from the date of the annual general meeting for 2012 to
the date of the annual general meeting for 2015.

According to the Company's articles of association, the term of
office of each of the supervisors of the current term will expire at
the date of the annual general meeting for 2015 and shall be eligible
for re-election.

Ms. ZHOU Hong who is a retiring supervisor representing the
shareholders has notified the Company that as she has reached
the age of retirement, she has proposed to retire as a supervisor
representing the shareholders on expiry of her term on the date
of the annual general meeting for 2015 and will not seek for re-
election.
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The Supervisory Committee has nominated Ms. MIN Qing, the other
retiring supervisor representing the shareholders, as a candidate
for election as supervisor representing the shareholders for the
Next Term. The Supervisory Committee has also nominated Mr.
GUAN Jianming as a candidate for election as a new supervisor
representing the shareholders for the Next Term. Therefore,
resolutions will be proposed at the annual general meeting for 2015
to elect the said retiring supervisor representing the shareholders
(except Ms. ZHOU Hong) and Mr. GUAN Jianming as supervisors
representing the shareholders for the Next Term. In addition, Mr.
LEI Bin, the retiring supervisor representing the staff and workers,
will be elected as a supervisor representing the staff and workers
for the Next Term at a meeting of staff and workers to be held
separately by the staff and workers of the Company on or before
the date of the annual general meeting for 2015.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

All the directors that had been re-elected had renewed service
contracts and appointment letters with the Company for a term of
three years commencing on 6 June 2012.

Mr. Masashi HARADA had entered into service contract with the
Company on 11 June 2014.

All the supervisors that had been re-elected and appointed had
renewed or entered into appointment letters with the Company for
a term of three years commencing on 6 June 2012.

None of the directors or supervisors has a service contract with
the Company or its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received annual confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive directors as regards to their independence
to the Company and considers that each of the independent non-
executive directors is independent to the Company.

DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2014, none of the directors or the supervisors
and chief executives of the Company had any interests or short
positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as defined under
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") as recorded
in the register required to be kept under section 352 of SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance, to which the Company, its holding
company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in
which a director or supervisor of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
REMUNERATION AND THE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The details of directors’, supervisors’ and chief executives’
remuneration and the highest paid individuals are set out in note 10
to the consolidated financial statements. All of the five highest paid
individuals of the Company for both years were Directors.

NUMBER OF SHAREHOLDERS AND SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2014, there were 126 shareholders recorded in
the register of shareholders of the Company and the shareholders
other than a director, supervisor or chief executive of the Company,
having an interest or short positions in 5% or more of the relevant
class of the issued share capital of the Company as recorded in the
register of interests in the shares and short positions required to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of SFO were as follows:
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BRRAERETERR () NUMBER OF SHAREHOLDERS AND SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS (Cont’d)

RARRMDOTEIBER Long positions in the shares of the Company:
HEBERN
REEAH EA R
Percentage of Bolt
R85 FERASE the relevant  Percentage of
RRAMH Class of Number of & class of entire
Name of Shareholders Shares shares held  Capacity share capital  share capital
ErAE (5E) AR2R  RER 12436164038  E#EHA 100.00% 50.10%
Qingling Motors (Group) Domestic shares 1,243,616,403 shares  Beneficial owner 100.00% 50.10%
Company Limited
AtREPEHRASH MER (HiR) 496,453,654  EmEAA 40.08% 20.00%
Isuzu Motors Limited Foreign shares (H shares) 496,453,654 shares  Beneficial owner 40.08% 20.00%
Allianz SE HE& 102,122,000/ R EEER 8.24% 411%
(zE)

Allianz SE H shares 102,122,000 shares  Interest of a controlled 8.24% 4.11%

(Note)  corporation

Brat Note:
LATF ABAllianz SEFFEB AR T 2 R MHH#E % The details of the interests held by Allianz SE in the Company are as follows:
A
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Name of controlled corporation

Allianz Asset Management AG

Allianz Global Investors GmbH

RCM Asia Pacific Ltd.

Allianz Global Investors Taiwan Ltd.

Allianz Asset Management of
America Holdings Inc.

Allianz Asset Management of
America L.P.

Allianz Global Investors U.S.
Holdings LLC

Allianz Global Investors Fund

Management LLC
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RDEREH
Total interests in shares

EERRER EHED HizER fo s
Name of controlling shareholders % controlled Direct interests Indirect interests
Allianz SE 100% — 102,122,000
Allianz Asset Management AG 100% — 101,600,000
Allianz Global Investors GmbH 100% 98,240,000 —
Allianz Global Investors GmbH 100% 3,360,000 —
Allianz Asset Management AG 100% — 522,000
Allianz Asset Management of 100% — 522,000

America Holdings Inc.
Allianz Asset Management of 100% — 522,000

America L.P.
Allianz Global Investors U.S. 100% 522,000 —

Holdings LLC

Other than as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified
of any other relevant interests or short positions in the issued share
capital of the Company as at 31 December 2014.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year, none of the directors or supervisors of the
Company had any interest in any business which compete or may
compete with the business of the Company.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by
the Remuneration Committee (composed of one executive director
and four independent non-executive directors) on the basis of their
merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group had continuing connected transactions
with (a) Qingling Group and its subsidiaries EEE#EERR AR
Chongging Qingling Casting Company Limited (“CQCC"), EEE
$28R3E B R A A Chongging Qingling Forging Co. Ltd. (“CQFC"), &
BEHREREAR AT Chongging Qingling Axle Co. Ltd. (“CQAC"),
EEEHXHRERBBR AT Chongging Qingling NHK Seat Co.
Ltd. (“CQNHK"), EEERZHBR A" Chongging Qingling
Plastic Co. Ltd. (“CQPC"), ZEEEREFEIRARZAF Chongging
Qingling Aluminium Casting Co. Ltd. (“CQACL"), EEE#%/5E
KM AR LA Chongging Qingling Automobile Chassis Parts
Co. Ltd. ("QAC"), EEERKMIBMAR AT Chongging Qingling
Machinery Parts Co. Ltd. (“OM") and BEEERRE FERIERR
‘~a] Chongging Oingling Automobile Manufacture and Assembly
Co. Ltd. ("QAA"), (b) EEEREKEEABRAF (“Qingling Moulds”),
a sino-joint venture company which is owned as to 50.56% and
49.44% by the Company and Isuzu respectively and a subsidiary
of the Company, (c) Isuzu, (d) Qingling Isuzu (Chongging) Engine
Co.,Ltd. ("Qingling Isuzu Engine”), an entity established and jointly
controlled by the Company and Isuzu, (e) Qingling Isuzu (Chongging)
Automobile Sales and Service Co., Ltd (“Qingling Isuzu Sales”),
an entity established and jointly controlled by the Company and
Isuzu, (f) Isuzu Qingling (Chongging) Engineering Co., Ltd (“Isuzu
Qingling Engineering”), an associate controlled by Isuzu, and (g)
Isuzu Qingling (Chongqging) Autoparts Co., Ltd (“Isuzu Qingling
Autoparts”), a company controlled by Isuzu and invested by the
Qingling Group. Qingling Group and Isuzu held 50.10% and 20.00%
of the equity of the Company respectively as at 31 December 2014.
Pursuant to the Listing Rules, the above parties are connected
persons of the Group. Details of the continuing connected
transactions with the parties are as follows:



=%

i

KEBREXRS (&
@) HEXKEEMAKNBARZ

27

EERERERS

(i)

EEERBE EEE
REB TEERHA
% CBEEERBHEE
BEKREBED PR T
THHHERZES A
ARAHETIHHFRR
MEBUNBEEEABET
B HE B
A% (300 £ &K 78
R)EBE ARRIBE
HETEM - REER
TEUTAFEE - &
TERTEZER %
iRl E LM E - Al
REBRKASATE S
ZABRA(UKESE
BE)INTEBIBE8% v 2
BR A - RIEEAER
T BB R G T AL
E=F 2B RN
—EARMRK-

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(a)  Significant continuing connected transactions with Qingling

Group and its subsidiaries:

(i)

On 23 December 2010, the Company entered into
parts supply agreements with Qingling Group, CQCC,
CQFC, CQAC, CQNHK, CQPC and CQACL respectively.
The Company sells parts and raw materials for the
manufacture of automobile parts. The price is determined
based on the cost (or plus a lower profit margin). The
Company purchases automobile parts. The purchase
price is determined based on its actual cost or reasonable
cost (whichever is lower) incurred plus a profit margin
of not more than 8% and is determined in the following
order: at prices not higher than market prices; or if no
comparable market price, at prices based on actual
costs or reasonable costs (whichever is lower) incurred
plus a profit margin of not more than 8%, and in any
event, at prices no less favorable than those offered to
independent third parties. The payment shall be made
within one month after delivery.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(a)  Significant continuing connected transactions with Qingling

Group and its subsidiaries: (Cont'd)

(i)

(Cont'd)

The Company also renewed the agreements with such
companies on 17 December 2013, relating to the supply
of certain automobile parts by Qingling Group, CQCC,
CQFC, CQAC, CQNHK, CQPC and CQACL, respectively,
to the Company. The purchase price is determined in
the following order: at prices not higher than market
prices; or if no comparable market price, at prices based
on actual costs or reasonable costs (whichever is lower)
incurred plus a profit margin of not more than 8%, and in
any event, at prices no less favorable than those offered
to independent third parties. The payment shall be made
within one month after delivery.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(a)  Significant continuing connected transactions with Qingling

Group and its subsidiaries: (Cont'd)

(i)

(Cont'd)

On 21 August 2014, the Company also entered into
auto parts and materials agreements with CQCC, CQFC,
CQACL, CQAC, CQPC, CQONHK, QAC, QM and QAA
respectively. The Company will sell to CQCC the scrap
metal left over from the Company’s manufacturing
process and the prices shall not be lower than the market
price of scrap metal of same type and the price of such
scrap metal sold by the Company to independent third
parties (if any); the Company will supply to CQNHK and
QAA semi-finished auto parts and the prices of which will
be determined based on costs incurred by the Company
plus a profit margin of not exceeding 8%; And the
Company will supply to all Qingling Autoparts Companies
(refer to all subsidiaries of Qingling Group in the supply
agreements) raw and crafting materials and the prices
of which will be equivalent to the cost of sourcing such
materials from independent third parties plus the relevant
tax payable.
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FEBRERS (#A) CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’'d)
(a) HERSEREMNBARZ (a)  Significant continuing connected transactions with Qingling
EEREHERS (&) Group and its subsidiaries: (Cont'd)
(i) (%8) (i) (Cont'd)
MAFEERN - U EEFHE During the year, the amount for the above continuing
BMEIZMEEWNT connected transactions are as follows:
HEZSTHREMB IR Sales of parts and raw materials for the manufacture
BEEREZIMH : of automobile parts:
HERERWAET): with respect to Qingling Group (Note 1);
A K #76,829,0007T RMB76,829,000;
HEEEREE AR with respect to CQCC: RMB36,963,000;

#36,963,0007T :

HEBEEFEERRBE AR with respect to CQFC: RMB3,830,000;
#£3,830,0007T

HEFERER : AR with respect to CQAC: RMB3,277,000;
#£3,277,0007T ;

HEEERHEE AR with respect to CQNHK: RMB12,299,000;
#£12,299,0007T

HEBEEEBRBEE AR with respect to CQPC: RMB2,868,000; and
#£2,868,0007T : K&

HEEERER: AR and with respect to CQACL: RMB2,331,000.
#£2,331,0007T

BERETIHHG Purchases of automobile parts:
HERERME2) : with respect to Qingling Group (Note 2):
AR #163,303,0007T : RMB163,303,000;

30
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(a)  Significant continuing connected transactions with Qingling

Group and its subsidiaries: (Cont'd)

(i)

(Cont'd)

with respect to CQCC: RMB34,956,000;

with respect to CQFC: RMB45,552,000;

with respect to CQAC: RMB77,349,000;

with respect to CQNHK: RMB59,551,000;

with respect to CQPC: RMB68,076,000; and

with respect to CQACL: RMB13,348,000.

Note 1: Including RMB4,591,000, RMB62,039,000 and RMB10,186,000
representing the sales of parts and raw materials to QM, QAA and QAC
respectively during the year.

Note 2: Including RMB79,981,000, RMB7,826,000 and RMB75,495,000
representing the purchases of automobile parts from QM, QAA and QAC
respectively during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(a)  Significant continuing connected transactions with Qingling

Group and its subsidiaries: (Cont'd)

(i)

Qingling Moulds entered into moulds supply agreements
with Qingling Group and its subsidiaries CQCC, CQFC,
CQPC and CQACL on 23 December 2010, and Qingling
Moulds also renewed the agreements with such
companies on 17 December 2013, relating to the supply
of moulds and related products and/or maintenance
and processing services by Qingling Moulds to the
aforesaid companies. And the price is determined on
normal commercial terms. If there are no sufficient
comparable transactions to judge whether they are on
normal commercial terms, the price shall be on terms
fair and reasonable to Qingling Moulds, which shall be
no less favourable to Qingling Moulds than terms offered
to independent third parties. The payment shall be made
within one month after delivery. During the year, the
amount of the continuing connected transaction was

RMB1,576,000.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(a)  Significant continuing connected transactions with Qingling

Group and its subsidiaries: (Cont'd)

(iii)

(iv)

The Company entered into a chassis supply agreement
with the Qingling Group on 23 December 2010 (renewed
on 17 December 2013) relating to the sale of automobile
chassis and related components by the Company to
Qingling Group, the price is determined with reference
to the market price of chassis and related components
with a credit period of three to six months after the sale.
During the year, the amount of the continuing connected
transaction was RMB1,690,470,000.

The Company entered into a warehouse leasing
agreement on 23 December 2010 with Qingling Group
(renewed on 17 December 2013), relating to the lease
of warehouse by Qingling Group to the Company at a
consideration of RMB6,040,000 per annum, and the
settlement period shall not be more than 30 days. The
aforesaid price is set by the Board of the Company
with reference to the depreciation charged by Qingling
Group, on straight-line depreciation basis, on the relevant
assets during the year. It is set at prices not higher than
market prices; or at prices no less favorable than those
offered to independent third parties. During the year,
the amount of the continuing connected transaction was

RMB6,040,000.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(a)  Significant continuing connected transactions with Qingling

Group and its subsidiaries: (Cont'd)

(v)

The Company entered into an equipment leasing
with  CQFC, on 2010,
(renewed on 17 December 2013), relating to the lease

agreement 23 December
of machineries for further processing of casting and
forging parts from CQFC by the Company. Annual
rental was based on the depreciation charge of the
relevant machineries for the relevant year payable by the
Company to CQFC in cash on quarterly basis, subject to
adjustment upon consultation with each other if there is
a material change on the depreciation charge. During the
year, the amount of the continuing connected transaction
was RMB19,974,000.

The details and amount of the above connected
transactions with Qingling Group and its subsidiaries
during the year are set out in note 32(i) to the

consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(b)

Significant continuing connected transactions with Qingling
Moulds:

The Company entered into a supply agreement with the
Qingling Moulds on 23 December 2010 (renewed on 17
December 2013), relating to the supply of moulds and related
products and maintenance and processing services by Qingling
Moulds to the Company, and the supply of raw materials and
processing services by the Company to Qingling Moulds, the
price is determined on normal commercial terms, if there are
no sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they
are on normal commercial terms, on terms fair and reasonable
to the Company, and the terms are no less favorable than
the terms available to independent third parties from Qingling
Moulds. The payment shall be made within one month
after delivery. During the year, the purchase amount of the
continuing connected transaction was RMB5,916,000 and the
sales amount was RMB19,306,000.

Significant continuing connected transactions with Isuzu:

(i)  On 23 December 2010, the Company entered into an
automobile parts and components supply agreement
with Isuzu whereby Isuzu provides the Company with
certain automobile parts and components produced by
Isuzu and which are required in the production processes
and the Company renewed the agreement with Isuzu
on 17 December 2013. As there are no sufficient
comparable transactions, the price of the Company’s
purchases of automobile parts and components is
determined with reference to actual or reasonable costs
incurred (whichever is lower) plus a profit margin of not
more than 10%, and the payment shall be made at the
time of delivery. During the year, the amount of the
continuing connected transaction was RMB978,843,000.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(c)

Significant continuing connected transactions with

Isuzu:

(Cont'd)

(i)

On 23 December 2010, the Company entered into
an accessory sets and other automobile parts and
components supply agreement with Isuzu whereby the
Company provides Isuzu with certain accessory sets and
other automobile parts and components produced by
the Company and which are required in the production
processes of Isuzu and the Company renewed the
agreement with Isuzu on 17 December 2013. As there
are no sufficient comparable transactions, the sales
price of those parts and components is determined
with reference to actual or reasonable costs incurred
(whichever is lower) plus a profit margin of not more
than 10%, and the payment shall be made within 40
days after delivery. During the year, the amount of the
continuing connected transaction was RMB22,728,000.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(c)

Significant continuing connected transactions with

Isuzu:

(Cont'd)

(iii)

During the year, the Company continued the transactions
under the agreements with Isuzu entered on 27 May
1996, 20 February 2000, 11 April 2002, 23 May 2008, 21
December 2012, 15 January 2013 and 25 February 2013
for the transfer of technology and provision of technical
know-how and the permission to use the trademark of
Isuzu and the emblem by Isuzu to the Company for the
production and sales of 4Z Engines, F series Chassis
and related parts and components, 4JH1-TC Diesel
Engines, 700P3X series vehicles and related parts and
components, GXR/GXZ vehicles, FXZ vehicles and FYH
vehicles. The price is set at an initial fee (Among which,
the initial fee for 4Z Engines, F series Chassis, 4JH1-TC
Diesel Engines and 700P3X series vehicles and related
parts and components has already been fully paid by the
Company to Isuzu), plus royalties, which is determined
with reference to the price of the parts and components
manufactured and sold by the Company pursuant to the
agreement, staff training fees and technical assistance
fees. The amount shall be paid every half a year.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(c)

Significant continuing connected transactions with

Isuzu:

(Cont'd)

(iii)

(Cont'd)

Also, as the technology licensing agreements for 100P-N
series and 140TF/UC series were due and the Company
and Isuzu made the Trademark Licensing Agreement
and the Trademark Licence Confirmation Agreement on
26 March 2014 and 21 August 2014 respectively. Isuzu
continues to grant the Company a non-transferrable right
to use the trademarks and emblems of Isuzu, “ISUZU"
and "AET9$%", in the sale of the 600P, 100P and TF/
UC series vehicles produced by the Company. And the
License fee for each series of vehicle is as follows:
JPY2,000 for each 600P series vehicle sold, JPY1,500 for
each 100P series vehicle sold and JPY1,500 for each TF/
UC series vehicle sold.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(c)

Significant continuing connected transactions with

Isuzu:

(Cont'd)

(i)

(iv)

(Cont'd)

During the year, the amount incurred for the continuing
connected transaction was RMB21,379,000.

The amount incurred for the connected transaction
(initial fee for GXR/GXZ vehicles, FXZ vehicles and FYH
vehicles) was RMB69,287,000.

On 23 December 2010, Qingling Moulds entered into
a moulds supply agreement with Isuzu relating to the
supply of moulds and related products by Qingling
Moulds to Isuzu, the price is determined on normal
commercial terms, if there are no sufficient comparable
transactions to judge whether they are on normal
commercial terms, on terms fair and reasonable to
Qingling Moulds. The payment shall be made within
90 days after delivery. During the year, the continuing
connected transaction did not occur.

The details and amount of the above connected
transactions with Isuzu during the year are set out in
note 32(ii) to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(d)

Significant continuing connected transactions with Qingling

Isuzu Engine:

On 23 December 2010, the Company and Qingling Isuzu

Engine entered into the following agreements (renewed on 17
December 2013):

the supply agreement, relating to the provision of
parts and raw materials of engines for assembling
and composing engine assemblies by the Company to
Qingling Isuzu Engine, whereas Qingling Isuzu Engine
provides engine assemblies and their parts to the
Company for assembling and maintenance of automobile.
The sales/purchase price is determined at actual costs
plus a premium of not more than 10%. Payment will
be made within one month after delivery. During the
year, the purchase amount of the continuing connected
transaction was RMB1,359,493,000 and the selling

amount was RMB734,011,000.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(d)  Significant continuing connected transactions with Qingling

Isuzu Engine: (Cont'd)

(i)

(i)

the consolidated services agreement, relating to the
provision of certain services (including services such
as water and gas supply, transportation, equipment

repair and maintenance, medical and hygiene and
three warranties) by the Company to Qingling Isuzu
Engine. The price is determined at actual costs plus
tax payable according to the new consolidated services
agreement made on 17 December 2013. And the price
is determined at actual costs plus a premium of not
more than 10% according to the previous consolidated
service agreement made on 23 December 2010. And
the settlement period shall not be more than 30 days.
During the year, the amount of the continuing connected

transaction was RMB1,172,000;

the equipment lease agreement, relating to the lease
of leased equipment by the Company to Qingling Isuzu
Engine. The monthly rent is determined with reference
to the depreciated value of the
of the
previously conducted by an independent international

leased equipment
leased equipment at the time of valuation

asset appraisal firm and the market value of the leased
equipment, and the settlement period shall not be
more than 30 days. During the year, the amount of the
continuing connected transaction was RMB39,077,000;

and
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(d)  Significant continuing connected transactions with Qingling

Isuzu Engine: (Cont'd)

(iv)

the factory lease agreement, relating to the lease of land
and factory premises by the Company to Qingling Isuzu
Engine. The monthly rent was RMB318,600, which is
determined with reference to the annual depreciated
value of the leased land and factory premises and the
value of taxes payable for leasing, and the settlement
period shall not be more than 30 days. During the year,
the amount of the continuing connected transaction was
RMB3,823,000.

The details and amount of the above connected
transactions with Qingling Isuzu Engine during the year
are also set out in note 32(iii) to the consolidated financial
statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(e)

Significant continuing connected transactions with Qingling

Isuzu Sales:

On 23 December 2010, the Company and Qingling Isuzu

Sales entered into the following agreements (renewed on 17
December 2013):

the pre-leasing agreement, where subsequently the

Company and Qingling Isuzu Sales entered into a
formal lease on 30 December 2010 pursuant to the
pre-leasing agreement, relating to the lease of leased
land and premises by the Company to Qingling Isuzu
Sales. The monthly rent is determined with reference
to the depreciation charged to such land and premises
of the Company plus relevant tax, and the settlement
period shall not be more than 30 days. The Company
renewed the leasing agreement on 17 December 2013.
The monthly rent is RMB130,000. During the year, the
amount of the continuing connected transaction was

RMB1,170,000;
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(e)  Significant continuing connected transactions with Qingling

Isuzu Sales: (Cont'd)

(i)

(iii)

the consolidated services agreement, relating to the
provision of certain services (including services such
as transportation, equipment repair and maintenance,
by the

The price is

medical and hygiene and three warranties)

Company to Qingling Isuzu Sales.
determined at actual costs plus tax payable according to
the new consolidated services agreement made on 17
December 2013 and the settlement period shall not be
more than 30 days. During the year, the amount of the

continuing connected transaction was RMB472,000;

the automobile and parts supply agreement, relating to
the provision of automobiles and parts by the Company
to Qingling Isuzu Sales. The price is determined at
the market value of the automobiles or parts. The full
payment shall be made 30 days before the date of
delivery. During the year, the amount of the continuing
connected transaction was RMB5,835,000.

The details and amounts of the above connected
transactions with Qingling Isuzu Sales during the year
are set out in note 32(iv) to the consolidated financial
statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(f)

Continuing connected transactions with Isuzu Qingling
Engineering:

The Company and Isuzu Qingling Engineering entered into
a factory lease on 17 December 2013, relating to the lease
of the factory premises by the Company to Isuzu Qingling
Engineering. The agreement shall be effective from the date
upon obtaining all relevant approvals and/or completing all
other procedures in accordance with all applicable laws, rules
and regulations or 1 January 2014 (whichever is later) to 31
December 2016. The monthly rent is RMB73,800, and the
settlement period shall not be more than 30 days. During the
year, the amount of the continuing connected transaction was
RMB886,000.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(f)

Continuing connected transactions with Isuzu Qingling

Engineering: (Cont'd)

The Company and Isuzu Qingling Engineering entered into
a consolidated services agreement on 17 December 2013,
relating to the provision of certain services (including services
such as water, electricity and gas supply, vehicle rental,
telecommunication and medical and hygiene) by the Company
to Isuzu Qingling Engineering. The agreement shall be
effective from the date upon obtaining all relevant approvals
and/or completing all other procedures in accordance with
all applicable laws, rules and regulations or 1 January 2014
(whichever is later) to 31 December 2016. The consideration
is determined at the actual costs of the Company plus taxes
payable, and the settlement period shall not be more than 30
days. During the year, the amount of the continuing connected
transaction was RMB752,000.

The details and amount of the above connected transaction
with Isuzu Qingling Engineering during the year are also set
out in note 32(v) to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(@ Continuing

connected transactions with Isuzu Qingling

Autoparts:

(i)

The Company and Isuzu Qingling Autoparts entered
into a supply agreement on 17 December 2013, relating
to the provision of parts of engines by Isuzu Qingling
Autoparts to the Company, and the provision of
automobiles, parts of engines and raw materials by the
Company to Isuzu Qingling Autoparts. The agreement
shall be effective from the date upon obtaining all
relevant approvals and/or completing all other procedures
in accordance with all applicable laws, rules and
regulations or 1 January 2014 (whichever is later) to 31
December 2016. Prices for products provided shall not
be higher than the market prices and shall not be less
favourable than the prices offered to independent third
parties. If there are no comparable market prices, prices
shall be determined based on the actual or reasonable
costs incurred (whichever is lower) plus a profit margin of
not more than 8%, The payment shall be made within 30
days after delivery. During the year, the Company did not
make any purchase from Isuzu Qingling Autoparts and
the amount of sales by the Company to Isuzu Qingling

Autoparts was RMB26,743,000.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(@ Continuing

connected transactions with Isuzu Qingling

Autoparts: (Cont'd)

(i)

The Company and Isuzu Qingling Autoparts entered into
a consolidated services agreement on 17 December
2013,
(including services such as water,

relating to the provision of certain services
electricity and gas
supply, vehicle rental, telecommunication and medical

and hygiene) by the Company to Isuzu Qingling

Autoparts. The agreement shall be effective from
the date upon obtaining all relevant approvals and/
or completing all other procedures in accordance with
all applicable laws, rules and regulations or 1 January
2014 (whichever is later) to 31 December 2016. The
consideration is determined at the actual costs of the
Company plus taxes payable, and the settlement period
shall not be more than 30 days. During the year, the
amount of the continuing connected transaction was

RMB1,042,000.

The details and amount of the above connected
transactions with Isuzu Qingling Autoparts during the
year are set out in note 32(vi) to the consolidated

financial statements
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(h)

Other Coninuing Connected Transactions:

(i)

The Company, Qingling Isuzu Engine, Isuzu Qingling
Engineering and Isuzu Qingling Autoparts entered into
a testing agreement on 17 December 2013, relating
to the provision of certain testing services (including
but not limited to smoking tests, external property
tests and combustion analysis tests for full-loading and
steady rolling engines; temperature resistance tests
and heeling tests for vehicles; and endurance tests and
vibration tests for parts) by the Company to Qingling
Isuzu Engine, Isuzu Qingling Engineering and Isuzu
Qingling Autoparts. Prices for services provided shall not
be higher than the market prices and shall not be less
favourable than the prices offered to independent third
parties. If there are no comparable market prices, prices
shall be determined based on the actual or reasonable
costs incurred (whichever is lower) plus a profit margin
of not more than 8%. The payment shall be made within
30 days after services are provided. During the year, the
Company did not provide the testing services to Isuzu
Qingling Engineering and Isuzu Qingling Autoparts and
the amount of testing services provided by the Company
to Qingling Isuzu Engine was RMB3,419,000.

The details and amounts of the above connected
transactions with Qingling Isuzu Engine during the year
are also set out in note 32(iii) to the consolidated financial
statements.



KEBREXRS (&

ARAZBMEERBRRERTES
FHEN R E B A E B R RS
I 5530005% [ 4% M = B E L 1 7%
BRI BRRRE]  R2ER
B EETEN D &M TT 55 3] £ 740
SIBAREE LMRRAASER
BRZNZBE R JRITERT
- RiE LR BIT4AB6 1R » %
HEDMARNRMERTEEH K
HHERRBTEIEMEHA(E
i AP 58 A5 AN 5% [ 3% BB B 455 4B R S
X5

il

T YARELETETAZEZGH

I

2. EJRBERITHERBERBAR
AlZ EEBRMETT

3. ERBERITHRERERH
RHOBEET R

4. HBE LR

ARABBIULFATEFTHER A
RS TARBNBEBEBPE
Mo B-BRBEERGRAKEEZG
R AREABER S Z & ER
BT GRBATFARE AFa
ARAPREOBERENE -

50

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

The Company’s auditor was engaged to conduct audit work in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and with reference to Practice Note
740 “Auditor’'s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Pursuant to the rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules, the auditor has issued a letter to the Board of the
Company that nothing has come to their attention that causes them
to believe that the continuing connected transactions disclosed by
the Group:

1. have not been approved by the listed issuer's board of
directors;

2. were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Company;

3. were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreement governing the transactions; and

4. have exceeded the cap.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company confirm
that the transactions have been entered into by the Company in the
ordinary and usual course of its business, on normal commercial
terms or better and in accordance with the agreement governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

Continuing connected transactions entered into during the year
but effective from 2015

(i) With Qingling Group:

(i) On 12 December 2014, the Company entered into three
new lease agreements with Qingling Group. The first lease
agreement relates to the leasing of land with an area of
approximately 19,880.4 square meters by Qingling Group
to the Company for storage of autoparts and raw materials
with the annual rent of RMB954,259.20. The second lease
agreement relates to the leasing of land with an area
approximately 20,697 square meters by Qingling Group to
the Company for use as a testing site for autoparts with the
annual rent of RMB993,456. The third lease agreement relates
to the leasing of land and the premises erected thereon
with an area of approximately 12,191 and 10,431 square
meters respectively by Qingling Group to the Company for its
operating uses with the annual rent of RMB1,627,236. The
rent payable by the Company under the new lease agreements
was determined after arm’s length negotiations between the
parties thereto with reference to the prevailing market rent
and existing rent payable under the existing warehouse leasing
agreement entered into between the Company and Qingling
Group on 17 December 2013. The rent shall be payable by
the Company every month and the outstanding amount of the
annual rent shall be settled by the Company before the last
day of each year.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(i)

On 30 May 2012, the Company and lIsuzu entered into a
production information management system development
agreement whereby the Company has engaged Isuzu for the
development of a production information management system
at a consideration of JPY444,444,380, which was determined
after arm’s length negotiations between the parties thereto by
reference to the estimates of the costs for manpower to be
involved, experiments to be conducted and use of experiment
facilities to be incurred by Isuzu. The consideration shall be
payable by the Company to Isuzu in 3 tranches: 50% of the
consideration shall be payable within 30 days from the date of
approval of the executed production information management
system development agreement by the relevant authorities of
the government of the PRC; 30% of the consideration shall
be payable within 30 days after phase | of the management
system has been tested and accepted by the parties; and
20% of the consideration shall be payable within 30 days
after phase Il of the management system has been tested
and accepted by the parties. The first and second tranches of
the consideration had been paid by the Company to Isuzu in
July 2012 and November 2013 respectively. During the year,
the Company did not pay to Isuzu pursuant to the production
information management system development agreement.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(ii)

On 2 April 2014, the Company and Isuzu entered into a 600P
emission technology development agreement whereby the
Company engages Isuzu for the technical transformation and
enhancement of 600P series vehicles and engines which the
Company currently produces so that they will meet certain
specified standards for emissions, power rating and torque
rating, including the phase 5 emission standards issued by
the government of the PRC for commercial vehicles. The
agreement shall be effective from 2 April 2014 to the date of
obtaining all approval from the relevant PRC authorities for
the manufacturing and sale of the modified 600P vehicles,
be JPY110,000,000, which
was determined after arm’s length negotiations between

and the consideration shall

the parties by reference to the estimates of the costs for
manpower involved, experiments to be conducted and use of
experiment facilities to be incurred by Isuzu. The consideration
shall be payable by the Company to Isuzu in the following
manners: 30% of the consideration shall be payable within 20
days from the date of approval of the executed 600P emission
by the
authorities of the government of the PRC; 20% of the

technology development agreement competent
consideration shall be payable within 20 days after receiving
the results of the development and design carried out by
Isuzu pursuant to the 600P emission technology development
agreement; and 50% of the consideration shall be payable
within 20 days from the date of obtaining the certification
of the vehicles' quality and emission standard for and the
registration of the modified 600P vehicles. During the year, the
Company has paid to Isuzu RMB1,997,000 pursuant the 600P
emission technology development agreement.

The details and amounts of the connected transactions with
Isuzu during the year are also set out in note 32(ii) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(iii)

On 21 August 2014, the Company and Isuzu entered into
a marketing fee agreement, pursuant to which Isuzu will
pay a total sum of JPY500,000,000 to the Company for the
marketing activities to be conducted by the Company in the
years from 2014 to 2016. The total sum of JPY500,000,000,
after deducting the tax payable by the Company to the
Japanese government (if any), will be paid by Isuzu to the
Company in the following manners: (a) JPY125,000,000 will be
paid before 30 September 2014; (b) JPY125,000,000 will be
paid before 31 March 2015; (c) JPY125,000,000 will be paid
before 30 September 2015; and (d) JPY125,000,000 will be
paid before 31 March 2016. In arriving at the consideration,
the parties have taken into account the marketing expenses
of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December
2013. The amount of the consideration under the marketing
fee agreement is equivalent to approximately 10% of the
marketing expenses of such financial year. During the year,
Isuzu has settled the first tranche of the marketing fee,
amounting to a total of RMB7,395,000.

The details and amounts of the connected transaction with
Isuzu during the year and also set out in note 32(ii) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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FIVE LARGEST SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the five largest suppliers
accounted for 54.53% of the total purchases of the Group. The
largest supplier accounted for 23.77% of the total purchases.
Qingling Group and its subsidiaries, a joint venture of the Company
and a Japanese trading company, through which Isuzu channels
its supply of parts and components to the Group, are included in
the five largest suppliers of the Group. Details of transactions with
Qingling Group and its subsidiaries and with Isuzu are set out in
the section “Connected Transactions” above. Other than disclosed
above, the Company’s directors and supervisors, their associates
or any shareholders (which to the knowledge of the directors own
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital), did not have any
interests in the Group’s five largest suppliers for the year ended 31
December 2014. For the year ended 31 December 2014, Qingling
Group was the largest customer. The aggregate sales attributable
to the Group's five largest customers (except Qingling Group) were
less than 30% of the Group's total sales.
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CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS, WARRANTS OR
SIMILAR RIGHTS

The Company and its subsidiaries did not issue or grant any
convertible securities, options, warrants or similar rights during the
year.

There were no outstanding or conversion of convertible securities,
options, warrants or similar rights issued or granted by the Company
or its subsidiaries and jointly controlled entity during the year.

DESIGNATED DEPOSITS

As at 31 December 2014, the Group did not hold any designated
deposits or any time deposits that were overdue but could not be
collected upon maturity.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, none of the Company or its subsidiaries and jointly
controlled entities had purchased, redeemed or sold any of the
Company’s listed securities during the year.
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EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2014, the Group had 2,884 employees (2013:
2,508 employees). During the year, no material change was noted
for the number of employees or their remuneration policy. The
Group actively formulated and implemented various training to its
staff of all levels.

STAFF RETIREMENT SCHEME

Details of the Group's staff retirement benefits scheme are set out
in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules. Based on specific enquires to all directors
and supervisors, the Company confirms that all directors and
supervisors have complied with the requirements of the Model
Code during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

During the vyear, the Company had complied with the code
provisions in the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix
14 of the Listing Rules.

Further information on the Company’'s corporate governance
practices is set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” from
pages 60 to 82.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its directors, there is sufficient public
float as not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares are held
by the public throughout the year 2014.

REVIEW OF ACCOUNTS

The audit committee has reviewed with the management and
auditors of the Company the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, internal controls
and financial reporting matters including the review of the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2014.
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AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting for
2015 to re-appoint Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public
Accountants LLP and Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditors of the
Company.

CHANGE IN DIRECTOR’S INFORMATION

In accordance with Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, during the
period from 21 August 2014 (as the date of approval of the 2014
Interim Report of the Company) to 20 March 2015 (as the date
of approval of the 2014 Annual Report of the Company), changes
in information required to be disclosed by Directors pursuant to
paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) are as follows:

1. Mr. Naotoshi TSUTSUMI has resigned as an executive director
and the vice chairman of the Company with effect from 20
March 2015.

2. Mr. PAN Yong has resigned as an executive director and a
deputy general manager of the Company with effect from 20
March 2015.

By order of the Board
DU Weidong
CHAIRMAN

Chongging, the PRC
20 March 2015
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The Company puts high emphasis on and endeavors to maintain
a high standard of corporate governance. The Board believes that
good corporate governance practices are important to promote
investors' confidence and protect the interest of our shareholders.
We attach importance to our staff, our code of conduct and our
corporate policies and standards, which together form the basis
of our corporate governance practices. The Board has adopted
sound corporate and disclosure practices, and is committed to
continuously improving those practices and cultivating an ethical
corporate culture.

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the Company has complied
with the code provisions in the Corporate Governance Code as set
out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

THE BOARD

Members of the Board are accountable to the shareholders for the
success and sustainable development of the Company. The Board
is responsible for the management of all the important issues of
the Company, including the duties of convening general meetings,
implementing the resolutions passed at the general meetings,
determining the operating strategies and investment proposals of
the Company, formulating the plans of the Company for annual
financial budgets and final accounts, establishing and approving
the internal control and risk management systems and monitoring
the performance of the members of the senior management. The
directors shall make objective decisions for the interests of the
Company.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted board diversity policy in September 2013 to
comply with the new code provisions in relation to board diversity
effective from September 2013.

When determining the composition of the Board, the Company shall
take into account our business operations and select candidates
with appropriate and necessary skills and experience and those
who can express their views in a multi-angle perspective. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
education background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board.

As at 31 December 2014, the Board of the Company is comprised
of 11 members, including 7 executive directors and 4 independent
non-executive directors. Independent non-executive directors

account for over 36% of the number of Board members.
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RREZEMNAKKERIZ T An analysis of the Board based on a scope of diversity perspective is
HEAEENSTEHINDOT - set forth below:
HEAH 11
Number of Directors
10 AV
WITES
Independent
9 :
Non-executive
Director
8
7
6
5
4 HMITES
Executive
3 Director

40-49

0 Bt FiRA R PR35 5

Position Age Group |ength of service

RAARIBITESFAMR =44 - Mr. Ryozo TSUKIOKA, an executive director of the Company, has
ATHBEARAAIZFEREAT tendered his resignation as an executive director of the Company
RABEBERAAIEERIIERAE due to the reason that he is no longer a director of Isuzu Motors
ZREMBERBITESE AR Limited and other work adjustments. The Company elected Mr.
AR —NFREAFARAGE Masashi HARADA as an executive director of the Company to
REHEBEELEBARERNITE replace Mr. Ryozo TSUKIOKA who retired as executive director at
F BEEARRZ=ZLEEMBTEZ the annual general meeting in 2014 of the Company.

HITESRR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2014, the Board of the Company is
comprised of 11 directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. DU Weidong (Chairman)

Mr. Naotoshi TSUTSUMI (Vice-chairman)
Mr. GAO Jianmin

Mr. Makoto TANAKA

Mr. Masashi HARADA

Mr. ZENG Jianjiang

Mr. PAN Yong

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. LONG Tao

Mr. SONG Xiaojiang

Mr. XU Bingjin

Mr. LIU Tianni

Biographical particulars of the directors are set out in the section
headed "Biographical Details of Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management” in this annual report.

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, all the
directors, including independent non-executive directors, shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years,
and their re-election is subject to a vote of the shareholders.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from each of the existing independent non-executive directors
in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all the independent non-executive directors are
independent in accordance with the Listing Rules.
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RESPONSIBILITIES AND DELEGATION OF THE BOARD

The Board determines the overall strategies of the Company, and
monitors the performance of the senior management and the
related risks and control systems so as to achieve the development
objectives of the Company. Day-to-day management of the
Company is delegated to the executive directors and the senior
management, who are required to report back to the Board. All
the members of the Board have separate and independent access
to the senior management, and are provided with full and timely
information about the conduct of the business and development of
the Company, including monthly reports and recommendations on
significant matters.

The Board has delegated some of its functions to the committees
under the Board, and will seek independent and professional
advices from them in respect of related matters.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE

The Board meets regularly to review the financial and operating

performance of the Company and to discuss future strategy. During

2014, the Company held 11 board meetings, and the attendance

record of each director at the board meetings in 2014 is set out

EER T HEHNFEESEES below:
) A0 8
REHER/
BRRY
Attendance in
= person/Number
Directors of Meetings
HITES
Executive Directors
HEREE (8) 1M
Mr. DU Weidong (Chairman) 1M
REGEE (B2E) 10/10
Mr. Naotoshi TSUTSUMI (Vice-chairman) 10/10
BEREE mm
Mr. GAO Jianmin 1mm
B BRALE 910
Mr. Makoto TANAKA 9/10
ARR=%E (RZT—NEAA+—RED) 5/6
Mr. Ryozo TSUKIOKA (resigned on 11 June 2014) 5/6
FEESEE (RZE-—ME A +—BEZM) 0
Mr. Masashi HARADA (appointed on 11 June 2014) 1
LRILAE 1m
Mr. ZENG Jianjiang 1M
RERLE 10/11
Mr. PAN Yong 10/11
BYkYTES
Independent Non-executive Directors
EREE 1111
Mr. LONG Tao 11m
RNIRAE 8/9
Mr. SONG Xiaojiang 8/9
"ERERE 1111
Mr. XU Bingjin 11/11
EPN e 1111
Mr. LIU Tianni 1111

i BEARFANARAEBEE-—BAT=
B BEERAMTHREREFSRH
AINEEZAEMEERALREE

e
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ZERRLER/
SRRY (&)
Attendance by

Proxy/Number of
Meetings (Note)

0/0
0/0
n
n
0/0
0/0
n
n
212
2/2
2/2
2/2
0/0
0/0
0/0
0/0

0/0
0/0
2/2
2/2
0/0
0/0
0/0
0/0

Note: Pursuant to Article 103 of the Articles of Association of the Company, where a

director is unable to attend the board meetings due to certain cause he may in

writing appoint other director to attend the board meetings on his/her behalf.
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At the board meetings, the Board reviewed significant matters
including the Company’s annual and interim financial statements,
annual budget, proposals for final and interim dividends, annual
report and half-year report. At least 14 days’ notice is given to all
directors for all regular board meetings and all directors are given
the opportunity to include matters for discussion in the agenda. The
agenda and board papers for each meeting are sent to all directors
at least 3 days in advance of every regular board meeting. All
minutes of the board meetings are kept by the company secretary
and are available to all directors for inspection.

There is no material financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship between any two members of the Board.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. WU Nianging and Mr. TUNG Tat Chiu Michael were appointed
as company secretaries to take charge of the affairs in the PRC
and Hong Kong respectively on 28 April 1994. Mr. WU Nianging
is a full time employee of the Company, and works as the chief
accountant of the Group. He is familiar with the daily routine of the
Company. Mr. WU resigned as the company secretary responsible
for PRC affairs on 20 March 2015. The Company is in the course of
identifying suitable candidates to fill the vacancy.

Mr. TUNG Tat Chiu Michael is a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong
and the senior partner of Tung & Co., the Hong Kong legal adviser
of the Company and a China Appointed Attesting Officer. He
holds a B.A. degree in law and accounting from the University
of Manchester, the United Kingdom. He has over 20 years of
experience as a practicing lawyer in Hong Kong. Mr. TUNG is also
the company secretary of a number of companies listed in Hong
Kong. Although Mr. TUNG is not an employee of the Company, he
has been appointed by the Board to advise on legal and governance-
related issues. The primary corporate contact person of the
Company is Mr. WU Nianging, the company secretary in charge of
the PRC affairs. Since the resignation of Mr. WU, Mr. WU Yousheng
served as the internal main contact person of the Company
temporarily.
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According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, the persons who had
been working as company secretaries for the issuers on or before
31 December 1994 shall comply with the requirements in relation
to professional trainings set out in Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules
from the financial year beginning at 1 January 2017. However, as
confirmed respectively by Mr. WU Nianging and Mr. TUNG Tat Chiu
Michael, they had taken the relevant professional trainings for no
less than 15 hours during the year of 2014.

CHAIRMAN AND GENERAL MANAGER

Mr. DU Weidong and Mr. Makoto TANAKA hold the positions of
Chairman of the Board and General Manager respectively, which are
two clearly separate positions.

The Chairman is responsible for leading, and overseeing the
operations of the Board, effectively planning the board meetings
and ensuring that the Board is acting in the best interests of the
Company. The Chairman shall proactively encourage directors
to fully participate in the Board's affairs and make contribution
to the functions of the Board. The Board, under the Chairman’s
leadership, has adopted good corporate governance practices and
procedures and has taken appropriate steps to maintain effective
communication with the shareholders.
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The General Manager is responsible for managing the business
of the Company, as well as formulating and implementing the
Company'’s policies and is answerable to the Board in relation to the
overall management of the Company. The General Manager of the
Company works in close association with other executive directors
and the administration team of each core business division, ensuring
the funding requirements of the business of the Company are
sufficiently met and at the same time closely monitor the operation
and financial results of the Company according to business plans
and budgets, and advise the Board on matters in relation to the
Company’s development. The General Manager of the Company
is required to keep close communication with the Chairman
and all directors to keep them fully informed of all substantive
matters relating to the Company’s business development, and
is also responsible for building and maintaining a highly efficient
administrative support team to support him to discharge the
assigned duties in this position.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

Each newly appointed director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the
Company’s operations and businesses as well as his responsibilities
under the relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations.

Directors’ training is an ongoing process. During the year, directors
are provided with monthly updates on the Company's performance,
position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each
director to discharge their duties. In addition, all directors are
encouraged to participate in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company
updates directors on the latest development regarding the Listing
Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements from time to
time, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices.
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HEERHENLE EFTHEC According to the records provided by the directors, a summary
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of the trainings received by the directors for the year ended 31
December 2014 is as follows:

b ki
Type of Trainings
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Attending briefing sessions and/or seminars and/or forums.

Making speeches at briefing sessions and/or seminars and/or forums.

Reading seminar materials or magazines and updates relating to economy,
general business, directors’ responsibilities and the Listing Rules or the latest
development of other applicable regulatory requirements.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Three committees have been set up by the Board, namely, the
Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Audit
Committee. The Board is responsible for discharging corporate
governance functions as set forth in the Corporate Governance
Code. Sufficient resources are provided to enable the board
committees to undertake their specific roles.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established its nomination committee on 26 March
2012 with the terms of reference. The nomination committee
comprises four independent non-executive directors (namely
Mr. LONG Tao, Mr. SONG Xiaojiang, Mr. XU Bingjin and Mr. LIU
Tianni) and one executive director (namely Mr. DU Weidong). Mr.
DU Weidong, an executive director, serves as the chairman of the
nomination committee, and is responsible for the nomination of
the directors of the Company. The committee is delegated by the
Board to formulate the policies for the nomination of directors and
establish the procedures for the nomination of directors and the
standards for the selection and recommendation of directors. It is
also responsible for review of the structure, size and composition
of the Board and the assessment of the independence of the
independent non-executive directors. Directors shall be elected
at the shareholders’ general meeting for a term of three years.
Upon expiry of the term, a director shall be eligible for re-election.
Accordingly, all directors are appointed for a specific term. Mr.
Ryozo TSUKIOKA resigned as executive director and Mr. Masashi
HARADA was appointed as executive director at the annual general
meeting held on 11 June 2014.
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The nomination committee held two meetings in 2014. It reviewed
the structure, size and composition of the Board, assessed the
independence of the independent non-executive directors. And
advised the Board on the formulation of Board diversity policy.

The attendance record of the members of the nomination
committee at the meeting held in 2014 is set out below:

HER/BBRY
Attendance/
Number of
Meetings

2/2
212

2/2
2/2
212
2/2
2/2
212
212
2/2

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established its remuneration committee on 20 April
2006. The remuneration committee comprises four independent
non-executive directors (namely Mr. LONG Tao, Mr. SONG
Xiaojiang, Mr. XU Bingjin and Mr. LIU Tianni) and one executive
Director (namely Mr. DU Weidong). The remuneration committee is
chaired by Mr. SONG Xiaojiang.
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The main duties of the remuneration committee shall be: (a) to
make recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure for
the remuneration of all directors and senior management and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy; (b) to review and approve the management'’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate
goals and objectives; (c)(i) to determine, with delegated
responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual executive
directors and senior management; or (ii) to make recommendations
to the board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
directors and senior management; (d) to consider salaries paid
by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities
and employment conditions elsewhere in the group; (e) to review
and approve the compensation payable to executive directors and
senior management for any loss or termination of their office or
appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms
and is otherwise fair and not excessive; (f) to review and approve
compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of
directors for misconduct to ensure that they are consistent with
contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and appropriate;
and (g) to make recommendations to the board on the remuneration
of non-executive directors.

The Company has adopted a model to make recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration package of individual executive
directors and senior management.
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The remuneration of the members of the senior management by
band for the year ended 31 December 2014 is set out below:

AH

Number of persons

0 to 250,000
250,001 to 350,000
Over 350,000

Note: The members of the senior management disclosed above refer to those

employees of other than directors and supervisors.

The remuneration committee held two meetings in 2014, during
which, it made recommendations to the Board on the remunerations
of the independent non-executive directors and the specific
remuneration packages of individual executive directors and senior
management. The attendance record of the members of the
remuneration committee at the meeting held in 2014 is set out
below:

HER/EEAH
Attendance/
Number of
Meetings

212
212

212
212
2/2
2/2
2/2
2/2
212
212
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee with specific
terms of reference in accordance with the Listing Rules. The audit
committee comprises four independent non-executive Directors,
who possess appropriate commercial and financial skills and
experience to understand financial statements. The Committee is
chaired by Mr. SONG Xiaojiang and other members are Mr. LONG
Tao, Mr. XU Bingjin and Mr. LIU Tianni.

The terms of reference of the audit committee include the duties
to recommend the engagement and replacement of external
audit firms, oversee the Company’'s internal auditing system and
implementation, verify the Company's financial information and
disclosure, examine the Company’s internal control system, and
take charge and act as a communication channel between internal
and external auditors.

The audit committee held two meetings in 2014 to review the final
results for 2013 and the interim results for 2014. The attendance
record of the members of the audit committee at the meetings in
2014 is set out below:

HEE/EEAY
Attendance/
Number of
Meetings

2/2
2/2
212
212
2/2
2/2
2/2
2/2
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board adopted the Terms of Reference for Corporate
Governance set out in Code D.3.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code as the terms of reference for the Board to perform their
duties in relation to corporate governance on 26 March 2012, which
include developing and reviewing the Company's policies and
practices on corporate governance and making recommendations
to the Board; reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior management;
reviewing and monitoring the Company's policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; developing,
reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) for the Company’'s employees and directors;
and reviewing the Company's compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.

During 2014, the Board has performed the corporate governance
function as mentioned above.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the ultimate responsibility in overseeing the
operation of all business units under the Company’s management.
It shall appoint suitable qualified personnel to serve on the boards
of all subsidiaries operating in key business areas, attending their
board meetings to oversee the operations of these companies.
The management in each business division is accountable for the
operations and performance of the business within its area of
responsibility.

The Company’s management has implemented a system of internal
control to provide reasonable assurance that the Group's assets are
safeguarded, proper accounting records are maintained, applicable
laws and regulations are complied with, reliable financial information
are provided for the Company’s management for publication
purposes and investment and business risks affecting the Group are
identified and properly managed.
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The Directors of the Company review the effectiveness of the
internal control system of the Company and its subsidiaries at least
once every year. The scope of a review includes financial control,
operation control, compliance control and risks management
functions. The Board will also consider the adequacy of resources,
staff qualification and experience, training programmes and budget
of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function. As
at 20 March 2015, the Board has completed the aforementioned
review for 2014 and the Board is of the view that the Company's
internal control system can properly and effectively safeguard the
investments of the shareholders and the assets of the Group.

PRICE-SENSITIVE INFORMATION

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of price-sensitive information, the Company
is aware of its obligations under Part XIVA of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance and the Listing Rules and has established the
inside information/price-sensitive information disclosure policy with
close regard to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information”
issued by the Securities and Futures Commission.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
contained in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code
of conduct regarding securities transactions by directors and
supervisors. After specific enquiry with all the directors and
supervisors, all directors and supervisors confirmed that they have
completely complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout 2014.
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SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

The supervisory committee comprises three members, two of
whom are representatives of the shareholders (namely Ms. MIN
Qing and Ms. ZHOU Hong) and one of whom is the representative
of the staff and workers (namely Mr. LEI Bin). Ms. MIN Qing serves
as the chairman of the Supervisory Committee. During 2014, the
Supervisors of the Company exercised their right of supervision
in accordance with the laws to protect the legal interests of the
shareholders, the Company and the employees. The details of the
work of the supervisory committee are set out in the Supervisory
Committee’s Report in this annual report.

The supervisory committee held one meeting in 2014. The
attendance record of the members of the supervisory committee at
the meetings in 2014 is set out below:

HEE/ERAY
Attendance/
Number of
Meetings
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The external auditors currently appointed by the Company are
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP
and Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as its PRC and international
auditors respectively. In order to maintain their independence,
these accountants do not take on non-audit work. The work the
external auditors are engaged to perform must produce measurable
efficiency and added value to the Company and should not cause
adverse effect on the independence or independent standing of
their audit function. The remuneration of the auditor is disclosed in
the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTOR’' S RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

With the assistance of the accounting department, the Board is
responsible for preparing the financial statements for each financial
year and ensuring that, in preparing such financial statements,
appropriate accounting policies are adopted and applied and the
PRC accounting standards and systems and International Financial
Reporting Standards are observed, to give a true and fair view of
the financial position and operating results of the Company. The
statement of the auditors about their responsibilities on the Group's
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report
on pages 83 to 84.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

After the announcement of the Company’s interim and annual
financial results, the Company has proactively arranged for briefing
meetings for people from the investment community at regular
intervals, using the opportunity to promote investor relations and
two-way communication. The Company, through the investor
relations manager, responds to the information requests and
inquiries from the investment community. The Company also
publishes information such as the Company's announcements and
circulars on its website (www.gingling.com.cn) in a timely manner
under the requirements of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.



TEEBRE

ARABBREREREERRESF
REg ITFEREEHHERS
NEERREEBAREBKER
A o AR EE KA RR K % F
WK EFER UEREER -

EFEHFE_ZT-NEERRASF
REWLHEMT

E=

Directors

HITES

Executive Directors
HEREE

Mr. DU Weidong
REBGTAE

Mr. Naotoshi TSUTSUMI
BER%AE

Mr. GAO Jianmin
HHALE

Mr. Makoto TANAKA

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company encourages shareholders to attend the annual
general meeting in which the Chairman and directors will answer
questions about the Company's business raised by shareholders.
The Company distributes annual and interim reports to shareholders
in a timely manner for their inspection.

The attendance record of the members of the Board at the annual
general meeting in 2014 is set out below:

HEE/ BRRAGRH
Attendance in
person/Number

of Meetings

ARMR=%4 (RZZ—MEXA+—HEHE)

Mr. Ryozo TSUKIOKA (resigned on 11 June 2014)
FREELE (RZ2-WF A+ BEZE)
Mr. Masashi HARADA (appointed on 11 June 2014)
BBEAE

Mr. PAN Yong

LRILE

Mr. ZENG Jianjiang

BIYFHITES

Independent Non-executive Directors
EREE

Mr. LONG Tao

RINIFAE

Mr. SONG Xiaojiang

hEREEE

Mr. XU Bingjin

BIREEE

Mr. LIU Tianni
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the financial year, the Company did not make any
amendment to its constitutional documents.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the shareholders of
the Company:

Convening of extraordinary general meeting on requisition by
shareholders

Pursuant to Article 80 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
two or more shareholders who hold an aggregate of 10% or more
of the shares carrying voting rights at the meeting proposed to be
held may, sign one or several written requisition in the same form
requesting the Board to convene an extraordinary general meeting
of shareholders or a class meeting of shareholders, specifying the
objects of the meeting. Upon the receipt of the aforesaid written
request(s), the Board shall convene an extraordinary general
meeting or a class meeting of shareholders as soon as possible. The
number of the shares held as aforesaid shall be calculated based on
these shares held by the shareholders as at the date of the written
requisition.

Where the Board fails to give a notice convening the meeting within
thirty days upon the receipt of the aforesaid written requisition,
the requisitionists may themselves convene a meeting, within four
months upon the receipt of the said requisition by the Board. A
meeting convene by the requisitionists shall be convened in the
same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings are
to be convened by the Bond.

Any reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists by reason
of the failure of the Board duly convene a meeting, shall be born by
the Company and be deducted from the amounts payable by the
Company to such directors who were in default.
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Procedures for putting forward proposals at shareholders’
general meetings by shareholders

The content of a proposal shall be a matter that should be
determined by shareholders’ general meeting, which shall have
definite topics to be discussed and specific matters for resolution
and shall be in line with the laws and administrative regulations.

Shareholders that independently or collectively hold 3% or more of
shares in the Company may make a temporary proposal and submit
it to the convener(s) in written form ten days prior to a shareholders’
general meeting. The convener(s) shall give a supplementary notice
of shareholders’ general meeting to announce the content of the
temporary proposal within two days upon receipt of the proposal.

Except as provided in the preceding paragraph, after sending out a
notice of shareholders’ general meeting, the convener(s) shall not
make any amendments to the proposals included in the notice or
add any new proposals.

The procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as
a director is made available in the website of the Company.

Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to the board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board of the Company in writing through Mr. TUNG Tat
Chiu Michael, the company secretary, whose contact details are as
follows:

Mr. TUNG Tat Chiu Michael

Qingling Motors Co. Ltd

1 Xiexing Cun, Zhongliangshan, Jiulongpo District, Chongging, the
People’s Republic of China

E-mail: gloffice@qingling.com.cn

TEL: (86) 23-65264125

Fax: (86) 68830397
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The Company Secretary shall forward the shareholders’ enquiries
and concerns to the Board and/or relevant board committees of
the Company, where appropriate, to answer the shareholders’
questions.

In 2015, the Company will continue to dedicate efforts into
enhancing the standard of its corporate governance according to the
ongoing regulatory changes, development trend of the Company,
and feedback opinions from shareholders, ensuring a stable and
healthy growth for the Company while adding value to shareholders.

By Order of the Board
TUNG Tat Chiu Michael
Company Secretary

Chongging, the PRC
20 March 2015
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF QINGLING MOTORS CO., LTD.

Qingling Motors Co., Ltd.
(a Sino-foreign joint venture joint stock limited company established
in the People's Republic of China with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Qingling
Motors Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 85 to 189, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2014, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’'s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December
2014 and of the Group's profit and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
20 March 2015



BEa Rk
H&éé@
—NEFE+=ZA=

H fth

= 3
LQEHJD

T—HLEFE

Wt
HERAR

£

HilA
HieAEREX
7 3 R HEM A
BEEER
HEER
DEBE R AR
DIERERAEF

BRBEAT A

g s i

FREMN RS BKE

THALEEFERRN R AR :

ARFREHBA
FRER L

BREARET

85

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

Bz S
—E-|mE —B-=F
+=RA=+-B t=B=t-H
LEE LEE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2014 31/12/2013
it ANEETFT  ARETFT
NOTES RMB'000 RMB'000
Revenue 5, 6 5,800,078 5,782,887
Cost of sales (4,926,202) (4,905,392)
Gross profit 873,876 877,495
Other income 124177 127,364
Other gains and losses 17,777 9,630
Distribution and selling expenses (310,424) (383,953)
Administrative expenses (174,301) (165,439)
Research expenses (23,886) (30,406)
Share of profit of an associate 269 313
Share of profits less losses of
joint ventures 15,247 7,249
Profit before tax 9 522,736 442,253
Income tax expense 7 (74,037) (64,632)
Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year 448,698 377,621
Profit and total comprehensive income
attributable to:
Owners of the Company 444 549 371,681
Non-controlling interests 4,149 5,940
448,698 377,621
Basic earnings per share 14 RMBO0.18 RMBO0.15




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AT 31 DECEMBER 2014

—E2-MmE —E-=f
t=A=t+-R +=A=1-H
31/12/2014  31/12/2013
Hizt AREFT AREFTT
NOTES RMB'000 RMB'000
FRBEE Non-current assets
I ER S Property, plant and equipment 15 919,792 1,144,232
BT Prepaid lease payments 16 42,043 43,426
REME Investment properties 17 38,318 39,022
B EE Intangible assets 18 150,465 43,641
NN S Interest in an associate 19 6,566 6,297
REEDE 2B Interests in joint ventures 20 414,581 399,334
EEHBEE Deferred tax assets 21 12,232 2,299
W IEREN A ETRN 08 Prepayments for acquisition of
non-current assets 22 — 50,681
1,583,997 1,728,932
muﬁJﬁE Current assets
FE Inventories 23 1,037,487 795,068
FEUREE 2 % K At M 2R Trade and other receivables 24 877,535 824,276
e Bills receivable 25 2,748,660 2,648,726
B LiEs ) Prepaid lease payments 16 1,383 1,383
REBABB=MEA 2 BTER Bank deposits with original maturity
B more than three months 26 2,797,786 2,625,304
FITEHR RS Bank balances and cash 27 1,133,712 1,206,765
8,596,563 8,101,522
nEEE Current liabilities
FEFTIRT - EFTRIERAMRENFUR Trade, bills and other payables 28 2,361,216 2,136,133
FERTHIE Tax liabilities 31,272 27,446
2,392,488 2,163,579
REBEEFE Net current assets 6,204,075 5,937,943
BEERRBAR Total assets less current liabilities 7,788,072 7,666,875
AR e Capital and reserves
Ba Share capital 29 2,482,268 2,482,268
AR E R Share premium and reserves 5,009,424 4,887,569
ARAEREA NEGER Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 7,491,692 7,369,837
JeERiE S Non-controlling interests 296,380 297,038
ERaE Total equity 7,788,072 7,666,875

75@855%%189,52”/\@7}5‘%%& The consolidated financial statements on pages 85 to 189 were

=
—HAF=-A-THEES
=

JrAp= N approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 20
FHEIEERET  LH T March 2015 and are signed on its behalf by:

FRKZ

H Dﬁ}i% Makoto TANAKA DIRECTOR

BEI=E=S ZENG Jianjiang DIRECTOR



mERER®H X CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
BE-—T-ME+-_A=1+—RLEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

NEEERE AEGRE
Equity attributable to owners of the Company

FERER

FEfERE

Equity

ZELEE fAEORS attributable

RAHE BAAEE  Statutory Discretionary  RERF to non-
A Share Capital surplus surplus  Retained &3 controlling  En#E
Share capital  premium reserve reserve fund reserve fund profits Total interests Total equity

ANREFT  ANEETT AREFT ARETT AREFT ARETT AREFT AREfT AREFT
RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000
(Wite) (W) (BE12)
(note (a)) (note 11) fnote 12)

W=%-=%-5-H At 1 January 2013 2,482,268 1,764,905 572,239 872,748 2347 1551876 7,246,383 294994 7541377
EFRFIR Profit and total
Gata comprehensive income
for the year — — - - — 371,681 371,681 5,940 377,621
FEAE Appropriation for the year - - — 36,157 — (36,157) — - —
THZE-ZFRERE 2012 final dividend
(Hz£13) paid (Note 13) = = = - — (248,227)  (248,227) —  (248227)
—EHBARRSERRES  Dividend paid by
SRS a subsidiary to non-
controlling interests — — — — — — — (3,896) (3,896)
RE—=%+-A=+—H  At31 December 2013 2,482,268 1,764,905 572,239 908,905 2347 1639173 7,369,837 297,038 7,666,875
ERRTIRGA A Profit and total
comprehensive income
for the year — — - - — 444 549 444,549 4,149 448698
FEAR Appropriation for the year — — = 44,596 - (44,596) - - —
IAEERRERHRIRE Unclaimed H shares dividend
of prior year - - — — - 1 1 — 1
THZE-=FRERE 2013 final dividend
(Bi£13) paid (Note 13) - - - - (322,695 (322,69) —  (32269)
—EHBARRERRES  Dividend paid by a
RS subsidiary to non-
controlling interests — — — — — — — (4,807) (4.807)
W=Z-WE+-A=+-H  At31 December 2014 2,482,268 1,764,905 572,239 953,501 2347 1,716,432 7,491,692 296,380 7,788,072
Hrat - Note:
(a) ERAREESTERE —EHARE (a) The capital reserve mainly includes an amount of approximately
572,206,000 L (Z T —=9F : AR RMB572,206,000 (2013: RMB572,206,000) which represents the excess of the
# 572,206,000 7T) %@ - hEABE value of the net assets immediately before the establishment of the Company
ECERMENBERNABERKT injected into the Company by E#/TE(SE)BRAR ('Qingling Group' —
MEERASE(EE)ARAF(E ultimate holding company of the Group) and E$2/9EFMR AR as part of the
SBREE]  BIAEEZKERAG) reorganisation in 1994 which was approved by the State Administration of State-
RE#AEARAAKRAKRA R owned Assets, over the nominal value of the 1,500,000,000 shares issued upon
MEEFEUREAR - NMNALNFE establishment of the Company of RMB1,500,000,000.

HE— A - LB AR B K LB FT
%% 171,500,000,000 % ) I E A R #&
1,500,000,0007T Z #B H 5 °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

> ||

Bz y2
—E-MF —E-=f
+=RA=+-HB t=B=t-H
ILFE LFE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2014 31/12/2013
ANREFT  ARETFT
RMB'000 RMB'000
xR OPERATING ACTIVITIES
BR % AL A Profit before tax 522,735 442,253
BERZ : Adjustments for:
FIEMA Interest income (97,412) (92,592)
AibEEE ARLRA Share of profit of an associate (269) (313)
AMERELERT Share of profits less losses of joint ventures (15,247) (7,249)
B R YRR BB Impairment loss recognised on trade receivables 1,297 =
YRR ERERE Reversal of impairment loss on trade receivables (2,595) —
FEMRE 2 FE Write-down of inventories to net realisable value 77,717 =
nE - BERRETE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 250,755 281,488
B EESRH Amortisation of intangible assets 13,144 8,410
BT LA S8 Release of prepaid lease payments 1,383 1,383
RENENE Depreciation of investment properties 2,017 13,969
HENE BERREZER Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment 1,324 357
EREETFE Net foreign exchange loss 3,010 2,806
EEETRBA MEEBREN Operating cash flows before movements
in working capital 757,859 650,512
FEEM Increase in inventories (320,136) (98,474)
FEUR SR R Bt fE MR (38 an) R (Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables (51,961) 43,997
eSS Increase in bills receivable (99,934) (84,292)
FERERSR - BN R E MR FIEEMN Increase in trade, bills and other payables 175,436 58,584
BEEBMEHE Cash from operations 461,264 570,327
G ETET A Income taxes paid (80,144) (57,173)
REXBMERLFE NET CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES 381,120 513,154
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g

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Placement of fixed deposit with banks
Withdrawal of fixed deposit with banks
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Prepayments for acquisition of non-current assets
Interest received
Proceeds on disposal of property,

plant and equipment

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Dividends paid

Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders
Unclaimed H shares dividend of prior year

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
1 JANUARY

Effects of exchange rate changes on the
balance of cash held in foreign currencies

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
31 DECEMBER, represented by
bank balances and cash

Bz BZ
—E2-mE “E-=F%
+=ZB=+-H +=A=t-H
LEE LEE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2014 31/12/2013
AREFT AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
(2,747,001) (2,576,604)
2,576,604 2,506,766
(48,633) (60,663)

— (61,477)

95,327 97,444

41 238
(123,662) (94,296)
(322,695) (248,227)
(4,807) (3,896)

‘] —

(327,501) (252,123)
(70,043) 166,735
1,206,765 1,042,836
(3,010) (2,806)
1,133,712 1,206,765
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

1. GENERAL

The Company is a Sino-foreign joint venture joint stock limited
company established in the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC")
with limited liability and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. The address of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company is 1 Xiexing Cun, Zhong
Liang Shan, Jiu Long Po District, Chongging, the PRC. The principal
activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (the "Group') are
the production and sale of Isuzu light-duty trucks, multi-purposes
vehicles, pick-up trucks, medium and heavy-duty trucks and
automobile parts and accessories.

The parent and ultimate holding company of the Company is
Qingling Group (a state-owned enterprise established in Chongging,
the PRC).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB") which is also the functional currency of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")

Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs and
a new Interpretation issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time in the current year:

Amendments to Investment Entities
HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and

HKAS 27

Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities

Amendments to HKAS 36 Recoverable Amount Disclosures for
Non-Financial Assets

Amendments to HKAS 39 Novation of Derivatives and Continuation
of Hedge Accounting, and

HK (IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies

The application of the above amendments to HKFRSs and
Interpretation in the current year has had no material effect on the
amounts reported in these consolidated financial statements and/or
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(Cont'd)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:
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HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments’
HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts?
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with

Amendments to
HKFRS 11

Amendments to

Customers?®
Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests
in Joint Operations®

Disclosure Initiative®

HKAS 1

Amendments to Clarification of Acceptable Methods of
HKAS 16 and Depreciation and Amortisation®
HKAS 38

Amendments to Defined Benefit Plans: Employee
HKAS 19 Contributions?*

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRSs

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle®

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle*



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014
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2. ERFAIRKETEEM 2.
B EER ([ FEBMB R
HER ) (8

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(Cont'd)

EEMGEERERZTFTREE

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Cont’d)

A EAMEREER(E)
BRI EREEL HERHE Amendments to HKFRSs  Annual Improvements to
(BFTA) HEEA HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle®
—E-_FF
—F-pmE
BHZFE
2#°
B g B AEKR Amendments to Agriculture: Bearer Plants®
FeRREHET  BY HKAS 16 and
HERIEAT5 HKAS 41
(BFTA)
EReERENY BUHKEHEIA Amendments to Equity Method in Separate Financial
(BFI7) ERE HKAS 27 Statements®
BRI BRELER KREZHAEBE Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets between
Z10R KBRS G- HKFRS 10 and an Investor and its Associate or
KEBI| 55285 RaElZE8 HKAS 28 Joint Venture®
(BFTA) BENER
BA°
BRI EREEL REERE : Amendments to Investment Entities: Applying the

F105 - BAERK JER A Ha) HKFRS 10, Consolidation Exception®
WwEERE125 K pIsEE HKFRS 12 and
BEGHER HKAS 28
F285 (BT A)
1 RZTE—N\F—HA—BxNAEHR®B 1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.
ZFEEERE AR -
2 RZT—R"FE—A— Bz AERA 2 Effective for first annual HKFRS financial statements beginning on or after 1
ZEHOFEBBVBRE LK January 2016.
T ER o
3 RZE—tF— A Bk AEHB 3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017.
ZFEEAR E R o
4 RZTE—NFLA—BsKAEHARA 4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014.
ZFE R AR .
5 RZTE—R"F—A—BxAEBHBA 5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016.
2 F [ EARE A K e
6 MN_ZE—F+A—Hs A BRABZ 6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014, with limited

FEDRRER  BRFEBRBEN

exceptions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(Cont'd)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Cont’d)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

In July 2014, HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue
arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will supersede the
current revenue recognition guidance including HKAS 18 Revenue,
HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related Interpretations
when it becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which
the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. Specifically, the Standard introduces a 5-step approach to
revenue recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

° Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

° Step 3: Determine the transaction price

o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

o Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a
performance obligation
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(Cont'd)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Cont’d)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Cont’d)

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’ of the
goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation
is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive guidance
has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios.
Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 15.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
HKFRS 15 in the future may have a material impact on the amounts
reported and disclosures made in the Group’'s consolidated financial
statements. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable
estimate of the effect of HKFRS 15 until the Group performs a
detailed review.

Other than the above, the directors of the Company anticipate that
the application of the new standard, amendments to standards will
have no material impact on these consolidated financial statements
of the Group.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis. Historical cost is generally based on the fair
value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope
of HKAS 17, and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or
value in use in HKAS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at
the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out as below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of
the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the date when
the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint ventures
are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
associates and joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes
are prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the
Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Cont’d)

Under the equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint
venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate or joint venture. When the Group's share of losses
of an associate or joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that
associate or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognizing its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost
of the investment over the Group's share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is acquired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Cont’d)

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to
the Group's investment in an associate or a joint venture. When
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal)
with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the
extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date
when the investment ceases to be an associate or a joint venture,
or when the investment (or a portion thereof) is classified as held for
sale. Any retained portion of an investment in an associate or a joint
venture that has not been classified as held for sale is accounted for
using the equity method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Cont’d)

Upon disposal or partial disposal of the Group’s interest in an
associate or a joint venture in which the Group lost significant
influence or joint control and discontinued the use of equity
method, any retained interest that is within the scope of HKAS
39 is measured at fair value on that date, the difference between
the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture at the date,
and the proceeds from disposing of such interest (or partial
interest) in the associate or joint venture and the fair value of
the retained interest is included in the determination of the gain
or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition,
the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint
venture on the same basis as would be required if that associate
or joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate or joint venture would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets
or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to
profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the Group lost
significant influence or joint control over the investee.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment
in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or
an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an
associate. There is no remeasurement of the previously held
interest or the retained interest to fair value upon such changes in
ownership interests.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Cont’d)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a
joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method, the
Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss
that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture
of the Group (such as a sale or contribution of assets), profits
and losses resulting from the transactions with the associate or
joint venture are recognized in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint
venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods sold in
the normal course of business, net of discounts and sales related
taxes.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when goods are
delivered and title has passed, at which time all the following
conditions are satisfied:

the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and
rewards of ownership of the goods;

° the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement
to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective
control over the goods sold;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Revenue recognition (Cont’d)

° the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

o it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to the Group, and

o the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

Service income is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income from
a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable,
which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’'s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than construction in progress) are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment other than construction in progress and
specialised production facilities and moulds, over their estimated
useful lives after taking into account of their estimated residual
values, using the straight-line method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

Specialised production facilities and moulds which can be identified
in relation to specific production processes are depreciated by
reference to the expected production volume of these facilities and
moulds after taking into account of their estimated residual values.

The estimated useful lives, residual values, the expected production
volume and the depreciation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and equipment
in the course of construction for production or for its own use
purposes. Construction in progress is carried at cost less any
recognised impairment loss. Construction in progress is classified
to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets,
on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the
assets are ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the assets (calculated as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item)
is included in profit or loss in the period in which the item is
derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals.

Investment properties are initially measured at costs, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation
is recognised so as to write off the cost of investment properties
over their estimated useful lives and after taking into account of
their estimated residual value, using the straight-line method.

For a transfer from owner-occupied property to investment property,
the transfer is made when there is a change in use, evidenced by
end of owner-occupation.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use or
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in
which the item is derecognised.

Leasing
Leases are classified as finances lease whenever the terms of lease

transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Leasing (Cont’d)

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group
assesses the classification of each element as a finance or an
operating lease separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
each element have been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear
that both elements are operating leases in which case the entire
lease is classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the minimum
lease payments (including any lump-sum upfront payments) are
allocated between the land and the building elements in proportion
to the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land
element and building element of the lease at the inception of the
lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as "prepaid lease payments" in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is released over the
lease term on a straight-line basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional
currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that
the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-
current assets are recognised as deferred income, if any, in the
consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to profit
or loss over the useful lives of the related assets. Government
grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial
support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes are dealt
with as payments to defined contribution plans where the Group's
obligations under the plans are equivalent to those arising in a
defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years, and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
Taxation (Cont’d)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associate
and joint arrangements, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary difference
associated with such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
when it relates to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the current and deferred
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is provided on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effective of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expensed from use or disposal. Gains
or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are
measured at the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or loss
in the period when the asset is derecognised.

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in
the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development
activities (or from the development phase of an internal project)
is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been
demonstrated:

o the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale;

° the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell
it;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
Intangible assets (Cont’d)

Research and development expenditure (Cont'd)

the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

o how the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits;

o the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell the
intangible asset; and

o the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to
the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible
assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when
the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above.
Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is charged to profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible
assets are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as
intangible assets acquired separately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful lives
to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to
individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets (Cont’d)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.
Net realizable value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into loans and
receivables.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including
all fees, points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
trade and other receivables, bills receivables, bank deposits and
bank balances and cash) are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any identified impairment losses (see
accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets below).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of loans and receivables

Loans and receivables of the Group are assessed for indicators
of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Loans and
receivables are considered to be impaired where there is objective
evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after
the initial recognition of the loans and receivables, the estimated
future cash flows of the loans and receivables have been negatively
affected. The objective evidence of impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

o breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of loans and receivables such as trade
receivables and other receivables, assets that are assessed not to
be impaired individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment
on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a
portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience
of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed
payments in the portfolio past the average credit period, observable
changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with
default on receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of loans and receivables (Cont’d)

For loans and receivables carried at amortised cost, the amount
of the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the loans and receivables is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of
trade receivables and other receivables, where the carrying amount
is reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes
in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When a trade receivable or other receivable is
considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off
are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying
amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

For loans and receivables measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and
the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent
that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment
is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities including trade, bills and other
payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees, points paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred
financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received. On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if
the revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Cont'd)

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less estimated cost to be incurred
to completion and disposal. These estimates are based on the
current market condition and the historical experience of selling
products of similar nature. It could change significantly as a result
of changes in customer taste or competitor actions in response to
severe consumer product industry cycles. Management reassesses
these estimates at the end of the reporting period. As at 31
December 2014, the carrying amount of inventory net of allowance
for obsolete inventories is RMB1,037,487,000 (net of allowance for
obsolete inventories of RMB77,717,000) (2013: RMB795,068,000,
net of allowance for obsolete inventories of RMB14,472,000).

Estimated impairment of trade and other receivables

When there is objective evidence of impairment loss, the Group
takes into consideration the estimation of future cash flows. The
amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition). Where the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, a material impairment loss may arise. The impairment
may arise as a result of changes in debtors' financial position. As
at 31 December 2014, the carrying amount of trade and other
receivables is RMB877,535,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts
of RMB2,972,000) (2013: carrying amount of RMB824,276,000, net
of allowance for doubtful debts of RMB4,595,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Cont'd)

Depreciation basis of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than specialised production
facilities and moulds) are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives, after taking into account the estimated
residual values. The Group’'s management determines the estimated
useful lives of its property, plant and equipment. The estimates
of useful lives are based on the historical experience of the actual
useful lives of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. Management will increase the depreciation charge in the
year where the useful lives are less than the previously estimated
lives and will write off technically obsolete or non-strategic
assets that have been abandoned or sold. Specialised production
facilities and moulds are depreciated by reference to the expected
production volume of these facilities and moulds, after taking
into account the estimated residual values. The Group assesses
annually the expected production volume of these facilities and
moulds, taking into account the lifecycle and technical advantage of
products. If the expectation differs from the original estimates, such
differences from the original estimates will impact the depreciation
charges in the current year in which the estimates change and in
future periods.



e B R M E NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BE-—T-ME+-_A=1+—RLEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

5. W& 5. REVENUE
WamiEAEERIINBEFHEHEE Revenue represents revenue arising on goods sold by the Group
mE A 2 W E - WHBR AT KR to external customers, net of discounts and sales related tax. The
EMH@EHRE AEBNREFTEZE following is an analysis of the Group's revenue from its major
mERKESTOT : products:
8z Bz
“E-mE “E2-=F%
+=ZA=+-B t=A=t-8H
LEE LEE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2014 31/12/2013
AREFT AREFT
RMB'000 RMB’000
HERERAE Sales of trucks and vehicles 5,385,392 5,345,819
HERET R Sales of automobile parts and accessories 414,636 437,068

5,800,078 5,782,887
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is engaged in the manufacture and sales of five
categories of products — light-duty trucks, multi-purposes vehicles,
pick-up trucks, medium and heavy-duty trucks and automobile
parts and accessories and the chief operating decision makers
(e.g. the Company’s executive directors) also review the segment
information by these categories to allocate resources to segments
and to assess their performance.

Principal business segments are as follows:

Light-duty trucks — manufacture and sales of
light-duty trucks
Multi-purposes vehicles ~ — manufacture and sales of
multi-purposes vehicles
Pick-up trucks — manufacture and sales of
pick-up trucks
Medium and — manufacture and sales of
heavy-duty trucks medium and heavy-duty trucks
Automobile parts and — manufacture and sales of
accessories automobile parts and accessories
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HE_ZT—NF+_A=+—HIEFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014
6. oHER(E) 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)
(i) DWUBERESE (i) Segment revenue and results
REERERFEBEREES DD The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by
W operating segment:
HE-_Z—NF+=-A=+—H For the year ended 31 December 2014
IEFE
HE
SUERE RHRERNE  BHRBH
BEERE Multi- KFZ Mediumand Automobile
Light-duty purposes Pick-up  heavy-duty parts and &8
trucks vehicles trucks trucks  accessories Consolidated

ANEETT  ARETT  ANEETT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Dbk Segment revenue 2,791,539 29,359 1,253,066 1,310,985 415,129 5,800,078
PHEE Segment result 210,505 1433 121,544 112,157 2,222 447,861
EmERER Central administration costs (82,596)
IELON Interest income 97,412
11N Other income 44,542
PEEE A REF] Share of profit of an associate 269
HMEEEAFRH Share of profits less losses of joint ventures 15,247
R A& Profit before tax 522,735
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)

(i) Segment revenue and results (Cont’d)

For the year ended 31 December 2013

AE

SYRAE RHERERE  BHRHM

"AFRHE Multi- KFZ Mediumand Automobile
Light-duty purposes Pick-up  heavy-duty parts and g8
trucks vehicles trucks trucks  accessories Consolidated

ANEETT  ARETT  ANEETT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Dbk Segment revenue 2,566,640 14,343 1,766,417 998,419 437,068 5,782,887
PiEE Segment result 147,068 620 167,848 66,449 2,241 384,226
EmERER Central administration costs (86,529)
IELON Interest income 92,592
HiA Other income 44,402
PEEE A REF] Share of profit of an associate 313
HMEEEAFRH Share of profits less losses of joint ventures 7,249
R A& Profit before tax 442,253

HE-F-ME+-A=+-A
LR BRS AN HE (=T

renFz et R EH N E
SMAKE & BE $H|ﬂ°“ﬁl§
EEHEZDRMABRER 2GRN
TEIEETERER T‘JQH&
A HUA - D558 E 2 RDE
MEDEEERREF -t T
DEEREFHEERNETELE
REEZRZFTEER -
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There have been no inter-segment sales during the year ended 31
December 2014 (2013: nil)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same
as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3. Segment
result represents the profit earned from each segment without
allocation of central administration costs, interest income, other
income, share of profit of an associate and share of profits less
losses of joint ventures. This is the measure reported to the chief
operating decision makers for the purposes of resources allocation
and performance assessment.
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HE-ZT—NF+-_A=+—HIEFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014
6. 7HER ) 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)
(i) »2PEERAE (ii) Segment assets and liabilities
REFBEEREBREED HBD The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by
T operating segment:
RZE—NE+=A=+—H As at 31 December 2014
RE
SUERE PHRERE  BHREH
BEHAE Multi- K+E Mediumand Automobile
Light-duty purposes Pick-up  heavy-duty parts and &4
trucks vehicles trucks trucks  accessories Consolidated

AEBETE  ARETZ ARETL ARETT ARETT ARETFZ
RMB000  AMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000

Assets
NEE Segment assets 2,311,139 24,194 923738 1,470,773 159275 4,889,119
Pz EEREE Interchangeably used assets
between segments

— W% BERRHE — property, plant and equipment 455,457

— B LHEE — prepaid lease payments 43,426

—FE — inventories 226,530
?9@%% Investment properties 38,318

REENRZER Interest in an associate 6,566
RABARIZIER Interests in joint ventures 414,581
BATERRIRITES Bank deposits and bank balances 3,931,498
HE AL REE Other unallocated assets 175,065
GEBEE Consolidated total assets 10,180,560
BfE Liabilities
PHEE Segment liabilities 258,678 419,679
AR EFHER - BRIREREMERFE Unallocated trade, bills and other payables 1,941,537
HE ARz AR Other unallocated liabilities 31,272
GABAR Consolidated total liabilities 2,392,488
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)

(if) Segment assets and liabilities (Cont’d)

As at 31 December 2013

Assets
Segment assets

Interchangeably used assets between
segments
— property, plant and equipment
— prepaid lease payments
— inventories

Investment properties

Prepayments for acquisition of
non-current assets

Interest in an associate

Interests in joint ventures

Bank deposits and bank balances

Other unallocated assets

Consolidated total assets
Liabilities

Segment liabilities

Unallocated trade, bills and other payables
Other unallocated liabilities

Consolidated total liabilities

RE
SUERE PHRERE  BHREH
RS Multi- K+E Mediumand Automobile
Light-duty purposes Pick-up  heavy-duty parts and G&
trucks vehicles trucks trucks  accessories Consolidated
ANEETE AEETT AREFr AREFr  AREFr  ARETT
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
2,188,835 14,203 979,601 1,274,282 155,541 4,612,462
592,534
44,809
164,669
39,022
50,681
6,297
399,334
3,832,069
88,577
9,830,454
227,386 1,493 119,789 61,222 19,320 429,210
1,706,923
27,446
2,163,579
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)
(if) Segment assets and liabilities (Cont’d)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources between segments:

° All assets are allocated to operating segments other than
interchangeably used assets between segments, investment
properties, prepayments for acquisition of non-current assets,
interests in an associate, interests in joint ventures, bank
deposits and bank balances and other unallocated assets held
by the head office; and

o All liabilities are allocated to operating segments other
than unallocated trade, bills and other payables and other
unallocated liabilities of the head office.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)

(iii) Other segment information

For the year ended 31

December 2014

hat:
$MRRE HERERE  BAREH
2iERE Multi- BFE Mediumand Automobile
Light-duty  purposes Pick-up  Heavy-duty parts and AR 0
trucks vehicles trucks trucks  accessories  Unallocated  Consolidated
ARETT  ARETT  ARKETT  ARETT  AREFT  AREFT  AREFL
RMB'000  RMB'OO0  AMBO00  ARMB000  RMB'O00  AMB000  AMB'000
OTHER INFORMATION
Amount included in the measure
of segment profit or loss or
segment assets:
Additions of property,
plant and equipment 3426 - 259 20420 - 3576 27,680
Amortisation of intangible assets 2892 444 444 9,364 — — 13,144
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 92,415 — an47 113,998 — 3,195 250,755
Depreciation of investment
properties — — — — — 2,017 2,017
Release of prepaid lease
payments — — — — 1,383 1,383
For the year ended 31 December 2013
AE
SWRRE HARERE  BHREHH
aiERE Multi- BEE  Mediumand  Automobile
Light-duty  purposes Pick-up  Heavy-duty parts and ISR &e
trucks vehicles trucks trucks  accessories  Unallocated Consolidated
A\NEETE  NEETn  AREFr  AEEFr  AREFr  ARETr  ARETR
RMBOO0 ~ RMB000  RMB000  RMBO000  AMB'000  RMBO00  AMB000
OTHER INFORMATION
Amount included in the measure
of segment profit or loss or
segment assets:
Additions of property,
plant and equipment 20,623 — 8,695 13,690 — 31,943 74,951
Prepayments for acquisition of
non-current assets — — - - - 50,681 50,681
Amortisation of intangible assets 2,610 - - 5,740 - - 8,410
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 139,010 - 57472 81,573 - 3433 281,488
Depreciation of investment
properties - - - - - 13,969 13,969
Release of prepaid lease
payments — — — - — 1,383 1,383
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)

(iv) Geographical information

Non-current assets (excluding deferred tax assets) of the Group
amounting to RMB1,571,765,000 (2013: RMB1,726,633,000) are
located in the PRC and substantially all of the sales of the Group are
also made to customers located in the PRC. The Group has made
limited export sales to countries outside the PRC which accounted
for approximately 0.39% (2013: 0.36%) of the Group's revenue.

All of the carrying amount of segment assets and additions to
property, plant and equipment are located in the PRC for both years
presented.

(v) Information about major customers

No revenue from a single external customer other than Qingling
Group and its subsidiaries contributed 10% or more of the Group's
revenue. For the year ended 31 December 2014, revenue from
Qingling Group and its subsidiaries amounted to RMB1,830,443,000
(2013: RMB1,614,761,000).



e B3 Wk MR

HE_Z—NF+-A=+—HILFEE

7. BRI H
BNEATE IR
BAFEEETR

EERERY (FF21)

R IR R R A B e 78 30 A B 35 X
BMEBACEMSENRO RSB
[2012]15125%) - iz A B9 7 2P i
& 30 =P EP b [ S B AR E 3 B
8 ) P& £ 15 89 A B 7] [A) B A 4 R
HEEELEMGHHEIGY -
MEEXBAOANFRENE T
o RARARAEEZHE R A
EEEREAARAR(ERE
ﬁDﬁEW%****E%%@

TEMEHRHERTBAFLE
ﬁm%%%mm&vmam:g
—=—FRARBEBABRTE -
RAIEERARARARERER
BESER N E R BTHE M IR - &K
BER_ZT—NFEAEELE
FTiSH B E16% o

RNEB 2 W B A A EEE K ZI
RO(TEREMRLDREES
E—NFF+ZA=F+—HIEFE
%25% (— T — =4 : 25%) &t
KM EFTST ©

131

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

7. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Bz Bz

“E-mF “E2-=%

+=R=t-B t=A=t-H

LLFE LLFE

Year ended Year ended

31/12/2014  31/12/2013

AEETT  ARETT

RMB’000 RMB'000

Current tax charge 83,970 63,831
Under-provision in prior years — 770
Deferred tax charge (Note 21) (9,933) 31
74,037 64,632

According to the Notice of the Enterprise Income Tax for
Implementation of Exploration and Development of Western Region
(Guo Shui [2012] No. 12), a company located in the western region
of the PRC and engaged in the business included in the Catalogue
of Industries Encouraged to Develop in the Western Region is
entitled to apply to the tax authority for the preferential EIT rate
of 15% if the certain conditions set out in the notice are satisfied.
The Company and BEEE#IEEGRAA
subsidiary of the Group have applied and obtained the approval from

("Qingling Moulds”), a

the tax authority in respect of the application of the preferential EIT
rate in 2012, and filed on record of the tax authority in 2013. In the
opinion of the directors, the Company and Qingling Moulds are able
to satisfy the conditions set out in the notice and therefore continue
to apply the preferential EIT rate of 15% in 2014.

BEEH ML (“Qingling Technical Center”), a subsidiary of the
Group is subject to 25% (2013: 25%) EIT rate for the years ended
31 December 2014.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

7. BB XH (& 7. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Cont’d)

AERELAZHERNGAERR
REM2EKER < m NP E N

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

T2 income as follows:
8z B2z
—F-mfE  ZE-=F
+=A=+t-B +=A=1+-AH
LFE LFE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2014 31/12/2013
AREFT  AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BR L AT A Profit before tax 522,735 442,253
ERFMEHFE15%5t 8 2 FE Tax at the applicable income tax rate
(ZZ—=%F:15%) of 15% (2013: 15%) 78,410 66,338
ERBAEEENH  BR BB E Tax effect of expenses not deductible
for tax purpose 298 785
BEFERETR Under-provision in respect of prior years — 770
ERARASE 2B B RRE (Fia) Additional tax benefit and refund applicable
to the Group (note) (1,791) (2,280)
FEHBARITRAT R 2 £ Effect of different tax rate of a subsidiary 136 153
AMEBE R ARTHABE FE Effect of share of profit of an associate (40) (47)
AMEEERARTIAEE FE Effect of share of profits less losses
of joint ventures (2,287) (1,087)
FRBEARER THRERELE Utilisation of deductible temporary differences
previously not recognised (689) =
AEEZHE Tax charge for the year 74,037 64,632
et - Note:
RBEABRARER  AREENER AR Pursuant to the relevant tax rules and regulation, expenses in research nature are

HEIIBEERAR250%HF - BHE—F—mN
FHZRA=+—BILEFE  HABRBKMNR
SHEAARKE1,791,000L(ZF—=4 : A
R #2,280,0007T) °
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deductible at 50% of the cost incurred additionally. The related tax benefit is amounted
to RMB1,791,000 (2013: RMB2,280,000) for the year ended 31 December 2014.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

8. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

The Group has a service agreement with its ultimate holding
company, Qingling Group, whereby the Group will reimburse the
contributions made by Qingling Group to a defined contribution
pension scheme administered by the municipal government in
respect of the staff of the Group. According to such scheme, the
Company shall pay an amount annually, calculated at a percentage
of the total wages of the staff, to a retirement fund administered
by the municipal government. The amount paid during the year
under such arrangement amounted to RMB20,939,000 (2013:
RMB19,026,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

9. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Profit before tax has been arrived at after charging:

Salaries and other payments and benefits
Retirement benefits scheme contributions

Total staff costs (including directors’ and
supervisors' remuneration (note 10))

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
(included in cost of sales)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of investment properties
Release of prepaid lease payments
Minimum lease payments under operating
leases in respect of rented premises and
production facilities
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense
Auditor's remuneration

and after crediting:

Sales of scrap materials

Interest income from bank deposits and balances

Income from renting of investment properties

Less: direct operating expenses from investment
properties that generated rental income
during the year

Income from renting of moulds and

tooling equipment
Government grant
Net foreign exchange gain

E BZ
—E-|mE —E-=f
+=ZA=+-B +=A=+-H
LEE LEE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2014 31/12/2013
AREFT AREFTT
RMB'000 RMB'000
145,278 122,452
20,939 19,026
166,217 141,478
1,324 357
13,144 8,410
250,755 281,488
2,017 13,969

1,383 1,383
35,963 37,941
4,598,642 4,896,982
3,468 3,468

487 334

97,412 92,592
5,879 10,244
(1,702) (1,803)
19,538 25,104

664 25

19,101 9,987




RE B ®RME NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BE-—T-ME+-_A=1+—RLEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

10. EE -EERITHADRH 10. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF

€ EXECUTIVE’'S EMOLUMENTS
hike hike

RiER W, iR

H4R  Performance HHlER #2R  Performance HEER
Rt related  Retirement ~ —%-J& EfEA related  Retirement ~ —¥-=%
Salariesand  incentive benefit Eh Salariesand  incentive benefit 3t
Hé other  payments scheme 2014 He other  payments scheme 2013
Fee benefits (note) ~ contributions Total Fee benefits note]  contributions Total

ANEETE  NRETE  AGETT ARETE  ARETE ARETT  ARRTZ  ARETZ  ARET%
RMB0OO  AMBO0O  ARMBOO0  RMBOO RMBOOO  AMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOO0  AMBOOO  RMBOO

g Executive directors
z NALRREH) DU Weidong (appointed on 5 June 2013) - 432 - 12 444 - 37 - 12 349
tAZ1ARE) WU Yun (resigned on 30 October 2013] - - - - - - 290 - 10 300
GAO Jianmin - n - 12 383 - 337 - 12 349
i ZERARREE) LIU Guangming (resigned on 5 June 2013) - - - - - - 141 — 5 146
VE] PAN Yong = n = 12 383 - 337 - 12 349
3 =F+R=tREER) ZENG Jianjiang (eppointed on 30 October 2013) - 508 - 12 520 - 56 - 3 59
BHEA Makoto TANAKA = 267 = - 267 - 272 - 12 24
ARRZ (R=F-mEXAT-REHD) Ryozo TSUKIOKA (resigned on 11 June 2014) - - - - - - - - - -
REH Naotoshi TSUTSUMI - - - - - - - - = =

REEE (R=F-WF A1-REZf) Measashi HARADA (appointed on 11 June 2014) - - = = = = - _ _ _

- 1,949 - 4 1,997 - 1,770 - 66 1836
Independent non-executive directors
LONG Tao 120 - - - 120 120 - - - 120
SONG Xiaojiang 120 - - - 120 120 - - - 120
XU Bingjin 120 - - - 120 120 - - - 120
LIU Tianni 120 - - - 120 120 - - - 120
480 - - - 480 480 - - - 480
EZME Supervisors' remuneration
RE MIN Qing - 4 % 12 149 - 34 80 12 126
Bt ZHOU Hong - 19 4 8 n - 2 68 7 104
i) LEIBin - 3 8 12 138 - 9 69 12 110
- % 28 k) 358 - 9 7 31 340
480 2047 8 80 28% 480 1,862 Wil 97 2,65
Kz . WEBS IR EESEHENERRE Note: The performance related incentive payment is determined by reference to the
T UVYHTEMEES (B —RBHIT individual performance of the supervisors and approved by the Remuneration
EERUZBIIERTESMAK) Committee (composed of an executive director and four independent non-
HAZ o executive directors).
A ASLETAENAFITHRE Mr. Makoto TANAKA is also the Chief Executive of the Company
HOMEXBE TN EGSE and his emoluments disclosed above include those for services
BT 1T BN 48 £ B P AR 4 rendered by him as the Chief Executive.
S 1T BUAS ~F 7

X2 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

10. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS (Cont’d)

Mr. ZENG Jianjiang is also the Deputy General Manager of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those for
services rendered by him as the Deputy General Manager.

No directors waived any emoluments in the year ended 31
December 2014 (2013: nil).

All the five highest paid individuals of the Group for both years were
directors.

11. TRANSFER TO STATUTORY SURPLUS RESERVE
FUND

The statutory surplus reserve fund represents the appropriation
of 10% of profit after tax for the year of the Company, calculated
in accordance with relevant Accounting Standards for Business
Enterprises in the PRC ("PRC GAAP”) and the Articles of
Association of the Company. The appropriation may cease to apply if
the balance of the statutory surplus reserve fund has reached 50%
of the registered capital of the Company. According to the Articles
of Association of the Company, statutory surplus reserve fund can
be used to make up prior year losses or to increase capital. The
Company may capitalise the statutory surplus reserve fund by way
of bonus issues provided that the remaining amount of statutory
surplus reserve fund after such distribution shall not be less than
25% of the registered capital of the Company. The amount shall be
submitted to shareholders’ general meeting for approval.



e B3 Wk MR
BE-T-MEF+-A=+—BLEE

12 BAERELAES

T -MERERETERMKIER
Eﬁ“ B (ZE—=F: &) o
AR®2347000c 2 EEAES
EHAWNBARELREARNBA
FERZRTPBEARLT REINARE
RIEAABREERE LR B R
FMETE BT 2 -

13. BB

RERERASEZRE

~P-ZERERE  OF

— SRARM013T
(-E-=F : “F-EREBRE
BiE — SRAREO.10%)

EFCERINEE-_ZT—TF
T A=+ BLEFERHAK
BERARKOI6T AR
397,163,000 L (=T — =4 : &
E-T—=F+=ZRA=+—H
EFERBAREERARKO013

/\Emzazz 695 ooom :

137

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

12. TRANSFER TO DISCRETIONARY SURPLUS RESERVE
FUND

No amount was appropriated to the discretionary reserve fund in
2014 (2013: nil). The balance of RMB2,347,000 in the discretionary
reserve fund was the amount appropriated by a subsidiary, Qingling
Moulds, in previous years at a percentage of the profit after tax of
the respective years in accordance with PRC GAAP and Articles of
Association of Qingling Moulds.

13. DIVIDENDS

S Bz
—g-mE  -¥-=f
+=ZA=+-B t=A=t-8H
LLFE LFE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2014 31/12/2013
AEETT AEET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
Dividends recognised as distribution
during the year:
2013 Final, paid
— RMB0.13
(2013: 2012 Final,
paid — RMBO0.10) per share 322,695 248,227

A final dividend of RMB397,163,000 or RMBO0.16 per share in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2014 (2013: final dividend
of RMB322,695,000 or RMBO0.13 per share in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2013) has been proposed by the directors and
is subject to approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming annual
general meeting.



e B R M E NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BE-—T-ME+-_A=1+—RLEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

14. BRER 14. EARNINGS PER SHARE
ViINNIET R - %ﬁ/\}fﬁt HR The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to the
BRRETHEREGE - owners of the Company is based on the following data:
Z7 Earnings
BZ BZE
“E-mE “E2-=F%
+=ZA=+-B t=A=t-8H
LEE LEE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2014 31/12/2013
AREFT AREFT
RMB'000 RMB’000
BAFTESREARZT 2 B Earnings for the purpose of basic earnings
(RAREEREARGFEERF) per share (Profit for the year attributable
to owners of the Company) 444 549 371,681
BREEB Number of shares
Bz BZE
—2-IE —B-=F
+=ZA=+-B +=A=+-H
LEE LEE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2014 31/12/2013
& &
‘000 ‘000
B ESREARF 2 RHEE Number of shares for the purpose
of basic earnings per share 2,482,268 2,482,268
RAEEEYETABITENZ There were no potential ordinary shares outstanding in both years
AREELEEEYE  EAR - presented.
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CosT
At 1 January 2013
Additions
Transfer from construction
in progress
Transfer to investment properties
Disposals

At 31 December 2013

Additions

Transfer from construction
in progress

Disposals

At 31 December 2014

DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT

At 1 January 2013
Depreciation provided for the year
Eliminated on disposals

At 31 December 2013
Depreciation provided for the year
Eliminated on disposals

At 31 December 2014

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2013

At 31 December 2014

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

LR FisE
RER#E e ]
Moulds,  Furniture, RE  EEIE

#F  plantand fixtures and Motor Construction a5t
Buildings  machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
ANEETT  AREFr  AEETT AREFT  AEEFT  AREFT
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
633,604 3,660,530 68,936 28,231 73,034 4,464,335
— 30 27 4934 69,960 74,951
10,022 109,682 = = (119,704) =
(3,024) = = = = (3,024)
(1,345) (970) (320) (1,127) — (3,762)
639,267 3,769,272 68,643 32,038 23290 4,532,500
— 18 — 188 27474 27,680
— 16,769 — = (16,769) =
= (5,860) (619) (6,293) = (12,772)
639,267 3,780,199 68,024 25,933 33995 4547408
333,137 2,692,374 62,762 21,674 — 3,109,947
26,181 252,451 1,713 1,143 — 281,488
(1,076) (789) (287) (1,015) = (3,167)
368242 2,944,036 64,188 21,802 — 3388268
25568 222,582 1016 1,589 — 25075
— (5,291) (557) (5,559) - (1400
383,810 3,161,327 64,647 17,832 — 3,627,616
281,015 825,236 4,455 0,236 23,290 1,144,232
255,447 618,872 3,377 8,101 33,99 919,792
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont'd)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, except for
construction in progress and specialised production facilities and
moulds, are depreciated on a straight-line basis based on their
estimated useful lives, after taking into account the estimated
residual value, as follows:

Estimated Residual
useful lives value
Buildings 20 years 10%
Moulds, plant and machinery, 5 to 10 years 10%
other than specialised
production facilities and
moulds
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 years 10%
Motor vehicles 5 years 10%

Specialised production facilities and moulds included in moulds,
plant and machinery which can be identified in relation to specific
production processes are depreciated by reference to the expected
production volume of these facilities and moulds. Other moulds,
plant and machinery which are for general production purposes are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives
of 5 to 10 years.

As at 31 December 2014, the carrying amount of moulds and
machinery that has been leased out was RMB184,900,000 (2013:
RMB317,606,000).

As at 31 December 2014, moulds, plant and machinery with original
cost of RMB2,290,623,000 (2013: RMB2,214,504,000) have been
fully depreciated but still in use.



e B R M E NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BE-—T-ME+-_A=1+—RLEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

16. ENLt#EE 16. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

—E-ME —E-=F
TEEAET=F TEHET=[E
31/12/2014  31/12/2013
AREFT  ANREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000

AEEMBEALREEE The Group's prepaid lease payments represent:
PAFR B0 R ER 1 50 FR Land use right in the PRC hold under
medium-term 43,426 44,809
RREMS WA Analysis for reporting purpose as:
BB E Non-current asset 42,043 43,426
MBEE Current asset 1,383 1,383

43,426 44,809
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Bz Bz
—%-mF  -%-=F
+=ZA=+-B t=A=t-H
LLFE LLFE

Year ended Year ended
31/12/2014 31/12/2013
AEEFT ANEEFT

RMB’000 RMB’000
COST
At 1 January 145,794 142,770
Addition 1,313 3,024
At 31 December 147,107 145,794
DEPRECIATION
At 1 January 106,772 92,803
Depreciation provided for the year 2,017 13,969
At 31 December 108,789 106,772
CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 38,318 39,022

The above investment properties are situated in the PRC held under
medium term leases and are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over 20 years, after taking into account the estimated residual value
of 10%.

The fair value of the investment properties cannot be reliably
measured as the comparable market transactions are infrequent and
alternative reliable estimates are not available.



e B R M E NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_ZEZ—NNE+-_A=1+—HItFEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014
18. B EE 18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
EEEBAH
BiiEEE Production
Technology management @5t
transfer fees system Total
NEETT ANEEFIT ANEEFT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
N COST
W=E-=£-F-H At 1 January 2013 285,593 = 285,593
AE Additions = 31,090 31,090
R-_E-=F+-A=1-H At 31 December 2013 285,593 31,090 316,683
RE Additions 119,968 = 119,968
RZZ-RE+-A=1+—H At 31 December 2014 405,561 31,090 436,651
B AMORTISATION
W-E-=%5-A-H At 1 January 2013 264,632 — 264,632
FERE Provided for the year 8,410 = 8,410
RZZ—=F+-f=1—H At 31 December 2013 273,042 = 273,042
FERE Provided for the year 10,035 3,109 13,144
R-_E-NF+-A=1—H At 31 December 2014 283,077 3,109 286,186
REE CARRYING VALUES
RZE—=F+-f=1+—H At 31 December 2013 12,551 31,090 43,641
R-_E-NF+-A=1—H At 31 December 2014 122,484 27,981 150,465
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Cont’d)

Payments of technology transfer fees, lump sum royalties under
technology transfer agreements with Isuzu Motors Limited
(“Isuzu”), the substantial shareholder of the Company, are
capitalised as intangible assets and are amortised over the license
period ranging from ten years to thirteen years, commencing from
the use of the technologies in production. Continuing royalties
payable to Isuzu under the technology transfer agreements are
charged to profit or loss as and when incurred.

The increase in the original carrying amount for the current period
consists of technology transfer fees of heavy-trucks.

The production management system acquired in December 2013,
has an estimated useful life of ten years and is expected to generate
economic benefits to the Company in the foreseeable future.

As at 31 December 2014, intangible assets with an original cost of
RMB271,333,000 in aggregate (2013: RMB176,964,000) have been
fully amortised but still in use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

Details of the Group’s interest in an associate are as follows:

—E-ME —E-=F
TEEAET=F TEHET=[E
31/12/2014  31/12/2013
AREFT  ANREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost of investment in an associate
Unlisted investment 6,333 6,333
Share of post-acquisition profit(loss)
of an associate 233 (36)

6,566 6,297

N_E—NER T —=F+— As at 31 December 2014 and 2013, the Group had interests in the
A=+—8  XEBR T 5 HZE following associate:
NEIFHEAER
AEBREZ
TE 2 il BEZ
Proportion REELHI
Bt B FTEEEMY of equity Portion of
| {20 EREK Place of Principal place interests held  voting power FE£#
Name of entity Form of entity establishment of operation by the Group held Principle activities
AtiRER (BE8)  #fiky HE hE 25% 25%  HifipaE
BRI E Incorporated  The PRC The PRC Technical
BB AT development
( [RTsERRkln
Rl )
ITRERER)AE
S UGEEl T YNG]
("Isuzu Qingling
Engineering”)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Cont’d)

Summarised financial information
associate is set out below:

Total assets
Total liabilities

Net assets

Group's share of net assets of an associate

Total revenue

Total profit and total comprehensive income
for the year

Group's share of profit of an associate

respect of the Group's

—g-mf  -B-=F
tT=A=1t-R t=A=t+-*H

31/12/2014 31/12/2013
ANREFTT AREFT
RMB'000 RMB’000
30,962 25,791
4,695 601
26,267 25,190
6,566 6,297

8= B2
—E-|mE —E-=f
+=ZA=+-B +=A=+-H
LLFE LEE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2014 31/12/2013
AREFTT AREFTT
RMB'000 RMB’000
14,813 9,252
1,077 1,255

269 313
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

Details of the Group’s investments in joint ventures are as follows:

—g-mE  -%-=f
tT=A=1t-R t=A=t+-*H
31/12/2014 31/12/2013
ARETT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
Cost of investment in joint ventures
Unlisted investment 315,774 315,774
Share of post-acquisition profits less losses
of joint ventures 98,807 83,560
414,581 399,334
BRATRERZEHEARAE (“Qingling  Isuzu  Engine”)

was established in May 2007, and is principally engaged in
manufacture of engines and relevant parts. The registered capital
is US$84,260,000, and the Company contributed US$42,130,000,
approximately RMB300,060,000 to Qingling Isuzu Engine. Each of
the Company and Isuzu held 50% of its issued capital respectively.

BRI TRER) TEHERBBERAA

was established in September 2008, and is principally engaged in

("Qingling Isuzu Sales”)

the purpose of selling of Isuzu brand automobiles and parts. The
registered capital is US$4,600,000, and the Company contributed
US$2,300,000, approximately RMB15,714,000 to Qingling Isuzu
Sales. Each of the Company and Isuzu held 50% of its issued capital
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Cont’d)

RZE—NFERER T —=F+= As at 31 December 2014 and 2013, the Group had interests in the
A=+—H AXA&EERTIEZ following joint ventures:
EREAER
AEEREZ
Bhl B2

EREERS Proportion RERELH

Form of ARt FEEEHY of equity  Proportion of
ERsE business Place of Principal place interests held  voting power FTEXH
Name of entity structure establishment of operation by the group held Principal activities
BROTREYH Balieva HE hE 50% 50% EFKR
Qingling Isuzu Engine Incorporated ~ The PRC The PRC IR EE

Manufacture

BRATIHE a2V h
Qingling Isuzu Sales  Incorporated The PRC

BRECENREREANAEEE
BRESHEEERIAAEER
RHBE N BB B E ARG

EEAEOKZMB AR B
REEMETEABLE L OHA
FHEZ B30T o T 585 & R

MEEREREEEV B RS LR
REZALELEVBRRMZT

BELERUERAMBERERA
A 2 )% 51 B
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of engines and

relevant parts
HE 50% 50% HERTHRITER
The PRC il

Selling of Isuzu

brand

automobiles

and parts

There are no significant restrictions on the ability of joint ventures
to transfer funds to the Group in form of cash dividends, or to repay
loans or advances made by the Group.

Summarised financial information of the joint ventures

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s
joint ventures is set out below.The summarised financial information
below represents amounts shown in the joint venture’'s financial
statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in
these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Cont’d)

Qingling Isuzu Engine

Current assets

Non-current assets

Current liabilities

The above amounts of assets and
liabilities include the following:
Cash and cash equivalents

Revenue

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year

—E-NF —E-=f
+=ZA=+-B +=A=+-H
31/12/2014 31/12/2013
AREFTT AREFTT
RMB'000 RMB’000
692,646 659,706
207,349 189,389
99,262 81,606

72,272 43,408

BZ BZE
—E-|E —2-=F%
+ZA=+-B +=ZA=+-H
LEE LEE

Year ended Year ended
31/12/2014 31/12/2013
AREFTT AREFTT
RMB'000 RMB’000
1,405,358 1,378,241
33,244 18,086
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Cont’d)

Qingling Isuzu Engine (Cont’d)

The above profit for the year include the following:

BE Bz

—F-mfE  ZE-=F

+=f=t-R +=A=+-H

LFE LEE

Year ended Year ended

31/12/2014 31/12/2013

AREFT AREFT

RMB'000 RMB'000

Depreciation and amortisation 37,934 36,243
Interest income 12,069 13,072
Income tax expense 6,430 3,884

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the

carrying amount of the interest in Qingling Isuzu Engine recognised

in the consolidated financial statements:

—E-lmF —E-=f

+=A=t-R +=A=+-H

31/12/2014  31/12/2013

ABEFT — AEETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

Net assets of Qingling Isuzu Engine 800,733 767,489
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest

in Qingling Isuzu Engine 50% 50%

Adjustments for unrealised profit 2,791 2,303

Carrying amount of the Group's interest
in Qingling Isuzu Engine 403,158 386,048
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Cont’d)

Information of Qingling Isuzu Sales that are not individually

material

Bz Bz
—%-mF  -%-=F
+=ZA=+-B t=A=t-H
LLFE LLFE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2014 31/12/2013
ARETT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
The Group's share of loss and
total comprehensive expenses (1,863) (1,794)
Net assets of Qingling Isuzu Sales 22,293 26,943
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest
in Qingling Isuzu Engine 50% 50%
Adjustments for unrealised profit 276 (186)
Carrying amount of the Group's interest
in Qingling Isuzu Sales 11,423 13,286
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

21. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

The following are the major deferred tax assets recognised and
movements thereon during the current year:

nE - BER

FEW R RERE

AE Impairment

Impairment MiEZE  on property,
on trade Writ-down of plant and @it
receivables inventories equipment Total

ARETT — ARBTT  ARETT  ARETFIL
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

R-ZE—=F—F—H At 1 January 2013 — 2,202 128 2,330
EE R Charge to profit or loss — (31) — (31)
R-_E—=F+-A=+—H At 31 December 2013 — 2,171 128 2,299
RE&R kR Charge to profit or loss 446 9,487 — 9,933
RZE—NF+-_A=+—H At 31 December 2014 446 11,658 128 12,232

22, WIBHFRBEEZRNRK
|

R-F—=%+t-H=+—8 -
HEGERERBIRDEE (B
HMABRMAFAZNRER) 2B
I50R -
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22. PREPAYMENTS FOR ACQUISITION OF NON-
CURRENT ASSETS

As at 31 December 2013, the balance represented prepayments for
acquisition of non-current assets including initial fees for technology
licences of heavy-trucks.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

23. INVENTORIES

Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods

Less: write-down of inventories

—E-|mE —E-=f
+ZR=+-B +t=ZRA=+-H
31/12/2014  31/12/2013
ANEETFr AREFTT
RMB'000 RMB'000
702,484 583,304
98,647 29,970
314,073 196,266
1,115,204 809,540
(77,717) (14,472)
1,037,487 795,068
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(@) At the end of the reporting period, the balance of trade and
other receivables includes amounts due from Qingling Group,
subsidiaries of Qingling Group, f+38E%(EE)TEZ S

[R /A 7]("Isuzu Qingling Autoparts” — an associate of Qingling
Group), Isuzu Qingling Engineering and Qingling Isuzu Engine
as follows:
“E-NE “2-=%
+=ZA=+-B t=RA=t-8H
31/12/2014  31/12/2013
AEETT  ARETT
RMB’000 RMB'000
Qingling Group 684,544 633,368
Subsidiaries of Qingling Group 61,755 87,458
Isuzu Qingling Autoparts 14,407 471
Isuzu Qingling Engineering 3,254 272
Qingling Isuzu Engine — 5,543
763,960 727,112

Receivables from Qingling Group of RMB684,544,000 (2013:
RMB633,368,000) were in trade nature, aged within 6 months.

Receivables from subsidiaries of Qingling Group were in trade
nature, included in the balance was RMB6,304,000(2013:
RMB47,041,000) aged within 6 months, RMB15,267,000 (2013:
RMB5,209,000) aged over 6 months but within 1 year, and
RMB40,184,000 (2013: RMB35,208,000) aged over 1 year.



e B3 Wk MR
BE-T-MEF+-A=+—BLEE

24, FEWERF R H b FE W FNIE
(&)

(a) (&)

W R THRERTEZTIH 2K
I8 A R #14,407,000 (=& —=
£ AR®A471,0007T) B8 5 &
B ERERHAREANRN -

FE U B -85 BF 82 £ 10 B B 2 IR
BB SHME & EIERR %6
& A A & 3 E A K # 2,833,000
T(ZZE—=4%: A\R#¥272,000
Jo)  BRERABGE AN EEBR —F
lxmm 18 A R #421,0007T (=
T—=F : |)

(b) MRBMEBPHR AEEHRE
WMBMARZERABM(EERA
WHHERBHEER) 252
FE W AR 3R O BR R AR £ R
® RESNWT

3MEALAR
3Z6fEA
TZ12{8 A
1226
k) i

FE R SR R B2

H e RR
BT HIE

155

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

(@) (Cont'd)

Receivables from Isuzu Qingling Autoparts of RMB14,407,000
(2013: RMB471,000) were in trade nature, aged within 6 months.

Receivables from Isuzu Qingling Engineering were in trade nature,
included in the balance was RMB2,833,000(2013: RMB272,000)
aged within 6 months, RMB421,000 (2013: nill) aged over 6 months
but within 1 year.

(b) At the end of the reporting period, the aged analysis of trade
receivables net of allowance for doubtful debts presented
based on invoice date of the Group at the end of the
reporting period, which approximated the respective revenue
recognition dates is as follows:

“E-NF “2-=%
+=ZA=t—-HB +=ZA=1+-H
31/12/2014  31/12/2013
ARETT  ARETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 3 months 475,321 459,059
Between 3 to 6 months 274,118 261,816
Between 7 to 12 months 16,364 5,209
Between 1 to 2 years 49,133 35,517
Over 2 years 4,598 11,552

Trade receivables less allowance

for doubtful debts 819,534 773,153
Other receivables 9,596 6,819
Prepayments 48,405 44,304

877,535 824,276
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

(b)  (Cont'd)

As at 31 December 2014, trade and other receivables of
RMB4,298,000 (2013: RMB3,723,000) and RMB20,000 (2013:
RMB20,000) were denominated in Japanese Yen (“JPY"”) and
United State Dollar (“USD") respectively, other than the functional
currency of the respective group entities.

Before accepting any new external customers, the Group uses an
external credit scoring system to assess the potential customer'’s
credit quality and assign credit limits by customer. Limits and
scoring attributed to customers are reviewed twice a year. 99%
(2013: 98%) of the trade receivables that are neither past due nor
impaired have the best credit scoring attributable under the external
credit scoring system used by the Group.

The credit period granted on sales of goods is 3 to 6 months.

Included in prepayments is an amount of approximately
RMB43,483,000 (2013: RMB34,356,000) related to the advance
payment to independent suppliers of steel.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

(c) At the end of the reporting period, the aged analysis of trade

receivables of the Group which are past due but not impaired,

net of allowances, is as follows:

—E-|mE —E-=f
+=A=+-8 t=A=t-B
31/12/2014 31/12/2013
AEETT AEETT
RMB’000 RMB’000

Overdue by:
1 to 6 months 16,364 5,209
6to 1 year 49,518 35,517
Over 1 year 4,213 11,552
70,095 52,278

Included in the Group's trade receivables balance are debtors

with a carrying amount of approximately RMB70,095,000 (2013:
approximately RMB52,278,000) which are past due at the end
of the reporting period for which the Group has not provided for
impairment loss, of which RMB55,451,000 (2013: approximately
RMB40,417,000) is due from subsidiaries of Qingling Group and
RMB421,000 (2013: nill) is due from Isuzu Qingling Engineering. The
Group does not consider any risk on subsequent collections, and all

of these receivables are expected to be settled in the coming year.

The Group does not hold any collaterals over these balances.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts

—E-mE —B-=fF

+=ZA=+-B t=A=t-8H

31/12/2014 31/12/2013

ARETT ANEEFT

RMB’000 RMB'000

Balance at beginning of the year 4,595 4,595

Impairment losses recognised on receivables 1,297 —
Amounts written off during the year

as uncollectible (325) —

Impairment losses reversed (2,595) —

Balance at end of the year 2,972 4,595

Allowance for doubtful debts are provided for individually impaired
trade receivables with an aggregate balance of RMB2,972,000

(2013: RMB4,595,000) which are in financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

25. BILLS RECEIVABLE

At the end of the reporting period, the aged analysis of bills
receivable of the Group is as follows:

—E-ME —E-=F
TEEAET=F TEHET=[E
31/12/2014  31/12/2013
AREFT  ANREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 1 month 552,449 878,650
Between 1 to 2 months 434,626 419,595
Between 2 to 3 months 416,999 214,663
Between 3 to 6 months 1,344,586 1,135,818

2,748,660 2,648,726

All the above bills receivable are guaranteed by banks and their
maturity periods ranged from 30 to 180 days.

26. BANK DEPOSITS WITH ORIGINAL MATURITY MORE
THAN THREE MONTHS

The amounts represented bank fixed deposits with original maturity
of 6 to 12 months and carried fixed interest rates. Their respective
interest rates are ranging from 0.80% to 3.30% (2013: 3.00% to
3.30%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2014, fixed deposits of RMB5,201,000 (2013:
RMB4,805,000) were denominated in USD.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

27. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from
0.0001% to 0.35% (2013: 0.0001% to 0.35%) per annum. The bank
balances and cash that are denominated in currencies other than
the functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out

below:
“Z-NmF “E2-=F%
+=ZA=+-B t=A=t-8H
31/12/2014 31/12/2013
AREFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
JPY 27,481 9,438
usb 5,677 5,848
European Dollar (“EUR") 1,818 6,758
Hong Kong Dollar (“HKD") 1,340 29
Great British Pound (“GBP") 3 3
36,319 22,076
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

28. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES

(@) At the end of the reporting period, the balances of trade
payables included the amounts due to Qingling Isuzu Engine,
Isuzu, Subsidiaries of Qingling Group and Qingling Isuzu Sales

as follows:
—2-DE —8-=F
+=ZA=+-B t=RA=t-H
31/12/2014 31/12/2013
AEETT  ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
Qingling Isuzu Engine 189,292 —
Isuzu 106,809 69,612
Subsidiaries of Qingling Group 3,060 7,723
Qingling Isuzu Sales 160 129

299,321 77,464

These amounts are in trade nature, unsecured, interest-free and the
credit period granted on purchases of materials is 3 to 6 months.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

28. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES (Cont’'d)

(b) At the end of the reporting period, the aged analysis of trade,
bills and other payables of the Group is as follows:

—E-|mE —E-=F%

+=f=t-R +=A=+-H

31/12/2014 31/12/2013

AEETT AEETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 3 months 1,260,883 1,446,427
Between 3 to 6 months 650,293 131,591
Between 7 to 12 months 2,772 26,909
Over 12 months 4,365 17,439
Trade and bills payables 1,918,313 1,622,366
Selling expenses payables 228,678 264,780
Value added tax payables 8,600 76,532
Other payables 66,099 55,482
Advance from customers 139,526 116,973
2,361,216 2,136,133

The balance of advance from customers at the end of the
reporting period represents the amount received in advance for the
subsequent sales of trucks and vehicles and automobile parts and
accessories.

At the end of the reporting period, trade and other payables
amounted to RMB107,387,000 (2013: RMB70,267,000) are
denominated in JPY.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

29. SHARE CAPITAL

“E-=f-f-R-
—E-=F
+ZA=t-EBR
“E-mE
+=A=1+-H
1/1/2013,
31/12/2013 and
31/12/2014
AREFT
RMB'000

Registered, issued and fully paid 2,482,268

RGAHA
Number of shares
—2-=%-f-8
—E-=f
+ZA=+-HBR
—B-RE
+=A=1+-H
1/1/2013,
31/12/2013 and
31/12/2014

TR

‘000

Shares of RMB1 each
— Domestic shares 1,243,616

— H shares 1,238,652

2,482,268

Domestic shares are ordinary shares subscribed for and credited
as fully paid up in Renminbi by the PRC government and/or entities
established in the PRC. H shares are ordinary shares subscribed for
in Hong Kong Dollar and credited as fully paid up in Renminbi by
persons other than the PRC government and/or entities established
in the PRC.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

29. SHARE CAPITAL (Cont’d)

Domestic shares and H shares rank pari passu in all respects with
each other. Domestic shares are not freely traded in The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

There were no changes in the registered, issued and fully paid share
capital of the Company during both years.

30. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital, retained
profits and other reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure from
time to time. As part of this review, the directors of the Company
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class
of capital. The Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as
well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.
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HE-ZT-—NF+-_A=1+—HItFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014
31. €T A 31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) €EWMITAEEHR (a) Categories of financial instruments

“§-mF  —F-=F
+-A=f-8 t=A=t-A
31/12/2014 31/12/2013
ARBFT — AREFT
RMB'000 RMB'000

SRBE Financial assets
EHREWE Loan and receivables
FEKER R Trade receivables 819,534 773,153
H IR Other receivables 9,596 6,819
e Bills receivable 2,748,660 2,648,726
[REIMAEB=E A Bank deposits with original maturity
ZBIER more than three months 2,797,786 2,625,304
BIIEHRKRE Bank balances and cash 1,133,712 1,206,765
7,509,288 7,260,767
SRAR Financial liabilities
BHE A Amortised cost
AN ZWTANES Trade and bills payables 1,918,313 1,622,366
BIRHEER Selling expenses payables 228,678 264,780
Hib I Other payables 66,099 55,482

2,213,090 1,942,628
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’'d)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other
receivables, bills receivable, bank deposits with original maturity
more than three months, bank balances and cash, trade and bills
payables, selling expenses payables and other payables. Details
of the financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments include market risk
(interest rate risk and currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. There has
been no significant change to the Group’s exposure to these risks
or the manner in which it manages and measures these risks. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

Market risk
(i)  Currency risk

Several entities of the Group have foreign currency purchases,
sales, which expose the Group to currency risk. The Group
considers the currency risk insignificant and does not use any
derivative contracts to hedge against its exposure to currency risk.
The Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely monitoring
the movement of the foreign currency rates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Market risk (Cont’d)
(i) Currency risk (Cont’d)
The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency denominated

monetary assets and monetary liabilities that are subject to currency
risk at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

g =1

Assets Liabilities
—B-DF —2-=F —2-DE —B-=F
+=ZA=t+—-H +ZA=+-8 tZA=t—-H +=A=t—H
31/12/2014 31/12/2013 31/12/2014 31/12/2013
AEETT  ARETT  AERETT  ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
10,898 10,673 — —
31,779 13,161 107,387 70,267
1,340 29 — —
1,818 6,758 — —
3 3 — —

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the risk of fluctuations in USD, JPY,
HKD and EUR. The management assessed the risk of fluctuations
in GBP is insignificant and did not present the sensitivity analysis in
the RMB against GBP.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Market risk (Cont’d)
(i) Currency risk (Cont’d)

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase
in the exchange rate of RMB against USD, JPY, HKD and EUR.
5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency
risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’'s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and
adjusts their translation at the period end for a 5% change in RMB
against USD, JPY, HKD and EUR. A (negative) positive number
below indicates (decrease) increase in post-tax profit for the year,
respectively, where the RMB strengthen 5% against USD, JPY,
HKD and EUR. For a 5% weakening of the RMB against USD, JPY,
HKD and EUR, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the
post-tax profit for the year.

Bz Bz
—%-mf  —%-=F
+=ZA=+-B t=A=t-H
LLFE LLFE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2014 31/12/2013
AEEFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB'000

Profit or loss
usb (463) (454)
JPY 3213 2,427
HKD (57) —
EUR (77) (287)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Market risk (Cont’d)
(i) Interest rate risk

The Group's fair value interest risk relates preliminary to bank
deposits with original maturity more than three months carried at
fixed interest rates.

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on
the fluctuation of deposit interest rate arising from the Group’s bank
balances carried at variable rate.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to bank balances carried prevailing deposit interest rate
at the end of the reporting period. 0.25% (2013: 0.27%) increase
or decrease in interest rate is used when reporting interest rate
risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’'s assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates.

If interest rates had been 0.25% higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group's post-tax profit for the year ended
31 December 2014 would increase/decrease by approximately
RMB2,409,000 (2013: increase/decrease by RMB2,770,000). This is
mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its
bank balances.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Credit risk

As at 31 December 2014, the Group’'s maximum exposure to credit
risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure
to perform an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the
carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits
and monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debtors. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual debtor at the end of the
reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The credit risk on amounts due from related parties is limited
because the Group also periodically evaluated the related parties’
credit rating and these related parties credit rating is high.

There is concentration of credit risk on amounts due from related
parties, which have been disclosed in note 24 and the Group
periodically evaluated the related parties credit rating and also look
for more non-related party customers. Apart from that, the Group
does not have significant concentration of credit risk on trade and
other receivables, with exposure spread over a number of counter-
parties and customers. The credit risk on liquid fund which are
deposited with several banks is limited because the Group’'s bank
deposits and bank balances are deposited with authorised banks in
the PRC with high credit-ratings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The Group relies on
cash generated from operating activities as a significant source of
liquidity. Trade receivables and bills receivables can be received
within six months based on the earliest date on which the Group
can require payments and bank balances can be drawn on demand.
The directors believe that the Group will have sufficient funds
available to meet its financial obligations in the foreseeable future
based on management working capital forecast.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

The following tables detail the Group’'s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the agreed
repayment terms. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay.

ESiit]
REREEE HFAZREE
SR-18A 12387 3fAAZE Total Carrying
Less than 1-3 3 months undiscounted amount
1 month months to1year  cashflows atyearend

NGRTTE  ARRTT  ARRTT  ARRTT  ARETZ
RMBOOO  AMBOOO  AMBOOO  AMBOOO  RMBO00

RZE-BE+-B=1-H At 31 December 2014
EfETRENRE Trade and bills payables 870,99 678,174 369,143 1918313 1918313
BlRAEERRAMENTE Selling expenses payables and
other payables 41,794 74429 178,554 294,777 294,777
912,790 752,603 BATET 2213090 2213090
R-E-=£+ZB=1-H At 31 December 2013
EERENER Trade and bills payables 470,367 700,206 451793 1622366 1,622,366

RREEERRAMENTA
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Selling expenses payables and
other payables 103,716 136,612 79,934 320,262 320,262

574,083 836,818 631,721 1,942,628 1,942,628
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)
(¢) Fair values

The Group has no financial instruments measured at fair value on a
recurring basis.

The fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised costs in
the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES

The Group's related party balances are set out in notes 24(a) and
28(a).



e B R M E NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-ZT-—NF+-_A=1+—HItFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014
32. BEARS &6 E) 32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(Cont’d)
REEAN  AEEEBESET During the year, the Group entered into the following transactions
THRS : with related parties:
(i) EEREEREMBATN (i) Transactions with Qingling Group and its subsidiaries
x5
@) EREERELS (a) Qingling Group and certain subsidiaries of Qingling Group
ETHBRAA(BRNAT (exclude the following subsidiaries set at in (b), (c), (d),
(b) ~ (c) ~ (d) ~ (e) ~ (f) (e), (f) and (g) below)
R(Q)FT 25 2 i 8 A &l
4N)

Bz Bz

“E-mE —B-=F

+=ZA=+-B t=A=t-H

REER Types of transactions flk:3:5 LEE
Year ended Year ended

31/12/2014  31/12/2013

AEETT  ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000
HEEE Sales of chassis 1,690,470 1,485,729
HET M REREME Sales of parts and raw materials for the
MEEESESHHE (i) manufacture of automobile parts (Note 1) 76,829 76,422
BESETHMH (ME2) Purchases of automobile parts (Note 2) 163,303 105,226
HERELH Expenses for renting warehouse 6,040 6,040
MEXEZ M Expenses for renting equipment 900 900
FRBES M Service fee expense 31 31
THFRER Swap of the land use right — 1,627

174



e B R M E NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE T WFE+_-_A=1+—HItFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014
32. BEARS #HEtR(E) 32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(Cont’'d)
(i) EEREEREMBATN (i) Transactions with Qingling Group and its subsidiaries
X5 (&) (Cont'd)
(a) (#&) (a) (Cont'd)
Krat1 o sEAZZE—F 2 AR #4,591,000 Note 1: Included in the 2014 amount are RMB4,591,000 (2013: RMBS5,569,000),
TL(=ZF—=%F : AR#¥5,569,000 RMB62,039,000 (2013: RMB61,319,000) and RMB10,186,000 (2013:
L) + A R # 62,039,000 T (= & RMB9,518,000) representing the sales of parts and raw materials to EEE
— =% : AER%61,319,000 ) RTBHIMPBRIEARAR (“Qingling Jijia"), EEERAE FREEFRA
& AR %10,186,000 T(= & — = A ("Qingling Shangzhuang”) and EEER/AHEEBHMEAER AR (“Qingling
£ AR ¥9,518,0007T) 7 Bl &7 Chassis”) respectively during the current year. Qingling Jijia, Qingling
A A & S5 0T EE M Hn 3P B Shangzhuang and Qingling Chassis are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Qingling
EERAT([EREM]) EEE Group.

RNELREEFRAR([EK L
KDREEERAERENRER
RE([ERER ) HE B4R EM
K2om o B Bk EER
BERESGRERER 2 ENE

NI

Kiaz2: st AT —MWFE 2 AR Note 2: Included in the 2014 amount are RMB79,981,000 (2013: RMB33,348,000),
79,981,000 (=2 —=F : AR¥ RMB7,826,000 (2013: RMB5,529,000) and RMB75,495,000 (2013:
33,348,000 7¢) - A E # 7,826,000 RMB63,386,000) representing the purchases of automobile parts from Qingling
T(ZZT— =% : AR¥S5,529,000 Jijia, Qingling Shangzhuang and Qingling Chassis respectively during the
7T) & A R # 75,495,000 (= & current year.

—=4 : AR%63,386,0007T) %5 Al
RAFARREEREMN B ERR
BRERBARERHEZLHE -

BRME T R2FTEF A Z 28I - H Other than the amounts included in Notes 1 and 2, the remaining
HBRDEGHERBEABEREER ZX transaction amounts arise from the transactions with Qingling
Z °© Group.
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e B R M E NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE T WFE+_-_A=1+—HItFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014
32. BEARS #HEtR(E) 32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(Cont’d)
(i) EEREEREMBATN (i) Transactions with Qingling Group and its subsidiaries
X5 (&) (Cont’d)
b) EREEZWEARE (b) BEEERBEERAR, asubsidiary of Qingling Group

EERBERRAQA

Bz Bz

“E-mE —B-=F

+=ZA=+-B t=A=t-H

REER Types of transactions flk:3:5 LEE
Year ended Year ended

31/12/2014  31/12/2013

AEETT  ARETT

RMB’000 RMB'000

BERETHMH Purchases of automobile parts 34,956 23,064
HETHH KRB Sales of parts and raw materials
MEEETES M for the manufacture of automobile parts 36,963 21,993
(c) BREBZHNEBARE (c) EEEBHBBEAER AT, a subsidiary of Qingling Group

EE®RBERR AR

Bz BZ

—2-DE —B-=F

+ZA=t—-B +=ZA=t+-H

RoEE Types of transactions LLEE LEE

Year ended Year ended
31/12/2014 31/12/2013
ARETT ARETT

RMB’000 RMB'000

BERETHMH Purchases of automobile parts 45,552 39,771
HET R REMH Sales of parts and raw materials

EEE BT for the manufacture of automobile parts 3,830 12,406
HEREL L Expenses for renting equipment 19,974 24,360
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES

(Cont'd)

(i) Transactions with Qingling Group and its subsidiaries

(Cont'd)

(d) EEEHLBEBERRAR, asubsidiary of Qingling Group

Types of transactions

Purchases of automobile parts
Sales of parts and raw materials
for the manufacture of automobile parts

e) EEEBRBBEWARAT,

Group

Types of transactions

Purchases of automobile parts
Sales of parts and raw materials
for the manufacture of automobile parts

Bz Bz
—Z-|mE —B-=f
+=B=t—-B +=A=t+-H
LFE LFE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2014 31/12/2013
ARETFT AEEFT
RMB'000 RMB'000
77,349 75,263
3,277 2,682

a subsidiary of Qingling
Bz Bz
—E-mEF —E-=F
+=ZA=+-B +=BA=+-H
LEE LEE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2014 31/12/2013
AREFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
59,551 56,573
12,299 11,263
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(Cont'd)

(i) Transactions with Qingling Group and its subsidiaries
(Cont’d)

() BEEELBEERAR, asubsidiary of Qingling Group

Bz Bz

“E-mE —B-=F

+=ZA=+-B t=A=t-H

Types of transactions LFE LFE
Year ended Year ended

31/12/2014  31/12/2013

AEETT  ARETT

RMB’000 RMB'000

Purchases of automobile parts 68,076 65,760
Sales of parts and raw materials
for the manufacture of automobile parts 4,444 2,834

() EEERERARAT], asubsidiary of Qingling Group

Bz 8z

—2-mE  —B-=F

t=A=+t-8 t=A=t-H

Types of transactions LEE LLFE

Year ended Year ended
31/12/2014 31/12/2013
ARETT ARETT

RMB’000 RMB'000

Purchases of automobile parts 13,348 9,628
Sales of parts and raw materials
for the manufacture of automobile parts 2,331 1,432
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES

(Cont'd)

(ii) Transactions with Isuzu

Bz

—2-DF

+=ZA=+-H

Types of transactions LEE

Year ended

31/12/2014

AEEFT

RMB’000

Purchases of parts and components 978,843

Royalties on sales of trucks and other vehicles 21,379
Sales of accessory sets and

other automobile parts and components 22,728

Acquisition of intangible assets 69,287

Promotion fee received 7,395

Research expenses 1,997

Bz
—B-=F
+=ZA=t-H
ILFE

Year ended
31/12/2013
ANEEFT
RMB’000

1,072,791
55,886

20,691
87,373

(iii) Transactions with Qingling Isuzu Engine, a joint venture of

the Company

Bz

—F-mF

+=ZA=1+-H

Types of transactions LEE
Year ended

31/12/2014

ARETT

RMB’000

Sales of accessory sets and raw materials 734,011
Purchases of automobile parts 1,359,493
Rental income for investment properties 3,823
Rental income for moulds and tooling equipment 39,077
Miscellaneous service income 1,172
Testing service income 3,419

s
m-FFrHDI

_I_
LLFE
Year ended
31/12/2013
ARETT

RMB’000

11 A

+=R

864,823
1,332,707
8,162
50,208
2,005
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(Cont'd)

(iv) Transactions with Qingling Isuzu Sales, a joint venture of
the Company

Bz Bz

“g-mE  —g-=f

+=ZA=+-B t=A=t-H

Types of transactions LFE LFE
Year ended Year ended

31/12/2014  31/12/2013

AEETT  ARETT

RMB’000 RMB'000

Sales of trucks and automobile parts 5,835 6,226
Rental income for investment properties 1,170 1,464
Miscellaneous service income 472 500

(v) Transactions with Isuzu Qingling Engineering, an
associate of the Group

¥z Bz

—g-mE  —B-=F

+=A=+-8 t=A=t-H

Types of transactions LEE LEE

Year ended Year ended
31/12/2014 31/12/2013
ARETT ARETT

RMB’000 RMB'000

Rental income for investment properties 886 314
Miscellaneous service income 752 467
Sales of raw materials 11 —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(Cont'd)

(vi) Transactions with Isuzu Qingling Autoparts, an associate
of Qingling Group

Bz Bz

“g-mE  —g-=f

+=ZA=+-B t=A=t-H

Types of transactions LFE LFE
Year ended Year ended

31/12/2014  31/12/2013

AEETT  ARETT

RMB’000 RMB'000

Rental income for investment properties — 314
Miscellaneous service income 1,042 353
Sales of parts and raw materials 26,743 —

(vii) Transactions/balances with other government-related
entities in the PRC

The Group operates in an economic environment currently
predominated by entities directly or indirectly owned or controlled,
jointly controlled or significantly influenced by the PRC government
(“government-related entities”). In addition, the Group itself is
part of a larger group of companies under Qingling Group which is
controlled by the PRC government. Apart from the transactions with
Qingling Group and its subsidiaries disclosed in section (i) above,
the Group also conducts businesses with other government-related
entities. The directors of the Company consider those government-
related entities are independent third parties so far as the Group's
business transactions with them are concerned.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES

(Cont'd)

(vii) Transactions/balances with other government-related

entities in the PRC (Cont’d)

Material transactions/balances
entities are as follow:

Trade sales

Trade purchases

Trade and other balances due to other
government-related entities

Trade and other balances due from other
government-related entities

other government-related

Bz Bz
—E-|mE —B-=f
+=BA=+-B +=A=+-H
LFE LEE

Year ended Year ended
31/12/2014 31/12/2013
ARETFT AREFT
RMB'000 RMB'000
470,736 1,222,505
400,779 1,335,001
“E-mE “B-=f
+=ZB=t—-B +=A=t+-H
31/12/2014 31/12/2013
AREFTT ANREFTT
RMB'000 RMB'000
113,210 91,669
289,087 947,867
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(Cont'd)

(vii) Transactions/balances with other government-related
entities in the PRC (Cont’d)

In addition, the Group has entered into various transactions,
including utilities services and surcharges/taxes charged by the PRC
government, and deposits and other general banking facilities with
certain banks and financial institutions which are government-related
entities in its ordinary course of business. In view of the nature of
these banking transactions, the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that separate disclosure would is not meaningful.

Except as disclosed above, the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that transactions with government-related entities are not
significant to the Group’s operations.

(viii) Compensation of directors and key management
personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the year are as follows:

Bz Bz

—2-DE —B-=f

+ZA=+-B t=A=t-8H

LLFE LLFE

Year ended Year ended

31/12/2014 31/12/2013

ARETFr ANEEFT

RMB’000 RMB'000

Short-term benefits 3,373 3,204
Post-employment benefits 190 165
3,563 3,369
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& B & | X M NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HE_T

—EF+ZA=F+—HIFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

33. &IE 33. COMMITMENTS
(a) MBEEHR AKEZER (a) At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following
AEWNT capital commitments:
“E-mE “E2-=F%
+=ZA=+-B t=A=t-8H
31/12/2014 31/12/2013
AREFT  ANREFT
RMB'000 RMB’000
BRREBEME - BE REENERN Contracted for but not provided in the
BRNERE BB IR BN B ARE consolidated financial statements in respect
REVEE of acquisition of property, plant and
equipment, and intangible assets 3,114 95,636
EREENE  BERRENEEESIE Approved by the directors but not contracted
ERRETANEREERER EE in respect of acquisition of property, plant and
equipment, and intangible assets 14,334 17,583
34. RgHE 34. OPERATING LEASE
NEBESEAHEA The Group as lessee
—E-|mE —E-=f
T=A=+-B +t=A=t-H
31/12/2014 31/12/2013
AREFT  AREFT
RMB'000 RMB’000
FARBLCERNAT 2 Minimum lease payment paid under operating
RIEBEHA : lease during the year:
ES Premises 14,584 9,574
& Equipment 21,379 26,721

35,963 36,295
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

34. OPERATING LEASE (Cont'd)
The Group as lessee (Cont’d)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for

future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases which fall due as follows:

—2-DF —B-=%

+ZA=+-B t=RA=t-H

31/12/2014 31/12/2013

AEETT  ARETT

RMB’000 RMB'000

Within one year 39,197 35,493
In the second to fifth year inclusive 32,985 59,234
72,182 94,727

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group
for certain of its warehouses and production facilities. Leases
are negotiated for an average term of one to three years. Some
contracts have been renewed during the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

34. OPERATING LEASE (Cont’d)

The Group as lessor

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with
tenants for the following future minimum lease payments:

—g-mF  -%-=F
+-A=+-B +ZA=f-A
31/12/2014 31/12/2013
ARBFT — AREFT
RMB'000 RMB'000

Within one year 51,989 51,893
In the second to fifth year inclusive 50,189 99,058
102,178 150,951

The amount represents rentals receivable from Qingling Isuzu
Engine, Qingling Isuzu Sales, Isuzu Qingling Engineering for certain
of its land and buildings and production facilities.

Other than the above, the Group does not have any other
commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases of property, plant and equipment and
investment property at the end of the reporting period.
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ME+=-—A=+—8BxX&
=F+=-A=+—H" &K
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ERESTER
Country of
registration
and operation

E — A
LERE

The PRC — Sino
foreign equity
joint venture

HE — PG E
RERE

The PRC — Sino
foreign equity

joint venture
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

35. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

ERERYA
Form of
business
structure

ARz

Incorporated

AL

Incorporated

HEMER
Registered
capital

38,166,6005 7T
US$38,166,600

29,980,000 T
US$29,980,000

the year.

31 December 2013 are as follows:

EAREERAN
BEENEIL

Proportion of ownership
interests directly held

by the Company
—E-NF —E-=F
2014 2013
50.56% 50.56%
51% 51%

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31 December 2014 and

TEEHR

Principal activities

HESERE R
BE

Production of moulds
for the manufacture
of automobile parts

EENEGESS
Not yet commenced
business

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of

There are no significant restrictions on the ability of principal

subsidiaries to transfer funds to the Group in form of cash

dividends, or to repay loans or advances made by the Group.

material non-controlling interests to the Group.

The end of reporting period non-wholly-owned subsidiaries have no



e B R M E NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BE-—T-ME+-_A=1+—RLEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

36. BEARAMBMRRREN 36. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF

R EHR - AR RQE R AR

FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

MEREE R BIE Company at the end of the reporting period includes:
—E-QmE —E-=f
TEAET=E TEZHET=E
31/12/2014 31/12/2013
AREFTT AREFTT
RMB'000 RMB'000
FRBEE Non-current assets
ME - BE RS E Property, plant and equipment 902,735 1,123,165
Efytinis Prepaid lease payments 42,043 43,426
RENE Investment properties 38,318 39,022
RVRE Intangible assets 150,465 43,641
Wﬁ% TZTEZﬁ Investments in subsidiaries 285,073 285,073
EA HERNRZIRE Investments in an associate 6,333 6,333
REELEZRE Investments in joint ventures 315,774 315,774
BLRBAE Deferred tax assets 12,232 2,299
WERIEREA E < BITHIE Prepayments for acquisition
of non-current assets — 50,681
1,752,973 1,909,414
mEEE Current assets
le3 1 Inventories 1,025,282 792,603
FEURIE 2R S A e 2 Trade and other receivables 852,562 798,898
EKEE Bills receivables 2,741,384 2,648,475
BT Ll E ) Prepaid lease payments 1,383 1,383
REIMARBB=EA 2 BTER Bank deposits with original maturity
B more than three months 2,510,800 2,380,800
BITHEBERE Bank balances and cash 896,773 924,615
8,028,184 7,546,774
/m@l@ Current liabilities
HMT%QH Amount due to subsidiaries 31,060 42,227
Vﬁﬁﬁfgm PRI R 2K Trade, bills and other payables 2,339,136 2,115,310
FERTHIE Tax liabilities 29,951 25,465
2,400,147 2,183,002
REEEFE Net current assets 5,628,037 5,363,772
BEERRDAR Total assets less current liabilities 7,381,010 7,273,186
R R Capital and reserves
e Share capital 2,482,268 2,482,268
AR E R Share premium and reserves 4,898,742 4,790,918
B Total equity 7,381,010 7,273,186




e B R M E NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BE-—T-ME+-_A=1+—RLEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

36. BEARAMBMRRREN 36. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF

&R (&) FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Cont’'d)
RWEBRR BEAARRRREEZ Information about movements in reserves of the Company at the
FHERBIE end of the reporting period includes:

RE2E8
Movements in reserves

EE

NS

BX  Statutory
RA&EE S surplus  REEF
Share Capital reserve  Retained -
premium reserve fund profits Total
AREFT ARETT AREFT ARETT AREFIL
RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

R=%-=£-A-H At 1 January 2013 1,764,905 572,210 866,872 1,469,056 4,673,043
FER A EYE Profit and total comprehensive

income for the year — — — 366,102 366,102
EE AR Appropriation for the year - — 36,157 (36,157) —
INZE-ZFERERS 2012 final dividend paid - - —  (248227)  (248227)
R=B-=F+-A=1-H At 31 December 2013 1,764,905 572,210 903,029 1,550,774 4,790,918
EERNRGEEYE Profit and total comprehensive

income for the year — — — 430,518 430,518
FENE Appropriation for the year — - 44,596 (44,596) -
DEFEARRIMHIRAR S Unclaimed H shares dividend

of prior year — — — 1 1
INZF-ZERERS 2013 final dividend paid - - —  (32269)  (322,69)
R-E-NF+-A=1—H At 31 December 2014 1,764,905 572,210 947,625 1,614,002 4,898,742
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Reporting Standards

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

Revenue

Profit before tax
Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

BZ+t-A=t-BLEE

For the Year ended 31 December

Financial summary — in accordance with Hong Kong Financial

“¥-mF =B-=F Z¥--F ZF--F ZB-%F
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
ANBETFrT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFTL
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(4= 551) (4 551) (&55)
(restated) (restated) (restated)
5,800,078 5,782,887 6,145,756 8,115,200 6,102,569
522,735 442,253 346,051 413,367 352,186
(74,037) (64,632) (50,378) (57,217) (48,863)
448,698 377,621 295,673 356,150 303,323
444 549 371,681 290,701 353,658 301,666
4,149 5,940 4,972 2,492 1,657
448,698 377,621 295,673 356,150 303,323




MR E

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MERE  RBREEFBYERESE Financial summary — in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
R (48) Reporting Standards (Cont’d)
mEeMBRR K CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
R+=A=+-H
As at 31 December
“E-NF CZEB-=f IZE--§ ZE--§ CZE-ZF
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
ANBETTT AEEFT ARETFT ARETT ARETT
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
(&&=7) (m=5) (m=5)
(restated) (restated) (restated)
BEE Total assets 10,180,560 9,830,454 9,624,656 10,143,706 10,385,522
BERE Total liabilities (2,392,488) (2,163,579) (2,083,279) (2,598,211)  (2,920,743)
EmEE Total equity 7,788,072 7,666,875 7,541,377 7,545,495 7,437,779
FEBER: Attributable to:
ARREEA Owners of the Company 7,491,692 7,369,837 7,246,383 7,253,553 7,148,122
It Non-controlling interests 296,380 297,038 294,994 291,942 289,657
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7,188,072 7,666,875 7,541,377 7545495 7,437,779
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PROPOSAL FOR APPROPRIATION OF PROFIT
FOR THE YEAR OF 2014

In accordance with the pertinent regulations and based on the actual
situation of the Company, the board of directors of the Company
resolved that the proposed appropriation of profit for the year of
2014 be as follows:

1. The appropriation of net profits after taxation shall be: 10% for
Statutory Reserve Fund, 0% for Statutory Public Benefit Fund
(Note 1) and 90% for profit available for distribution.

2. A final dividend of RMBO0.16 per share in cash (Note 2).
Subject to the approval of the shareholders at the annual
general meeting, the proposal final dividend is expected to
be paid to the shareholders whose names appear on the
register of shareholders on Wednesday, 10 June 2015. Further
announcement will be made as to the exact form of payment.

Note: 1. In accordance with the amendment to the Company Law of PRC on
27 October 2005 effective from 1 January 2006, and pursuant to the
Company'’s articles of association and the resolutions of the board
of directors of the Company, the Company decided not to accrue for
Statutory Public Benefit Fund from the year of 2006.

2. According to the regulations of the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the
People’s Republic of China, Implementation Regulations on Enterprise
Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Notice of
Withholding and Payment of Enterprise Income Tax Regarding China
Resident Enterprise Paying Dividend to Non-Resident Enterprise
Holders of Overseas H Shares issued by China’s State Administration
of Taxation (Guo Shui Han [2008] No. 897 on 6 November 2008),
any China resident enterprise which pays dividend to non-resident
enterprise holders of overseas H shares for the year of 2008 and
subsequent years shall withhold and pay enterprise income tax at a
unified tax rate of 10%.
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PROPOSAL FOR APPROPRIATION OF PROFIT
FOR THE YEAR OF 2014

As stated above, in respect of any non-resident enterprise holders
of H Shares (including HKSCC Nominees Limited, other custodians,
corporate nominees and trustees such as securities companies and
banks, and other entities or organizations) whose names appear
on the Company's register of shareholders on the Record Date of
Dividend, the Company will pay the 2014 final dividend payable to
such shareholders after deducting all enterprise income tax payable
from the 2014 final dividend.

In respect of any individual holders of H shares whose names appear
on the Company's register of shareholders on the Record Date of
Dividend, the Company will not deduct the enterprise income tax from

the 2014 final dividend which such shareholders have right to receive.

Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
20 March 2015
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors:

DU Weidong (Chairman)

Naotoshi TSUTSUMI (Vice Chairman)
(resigned on 20 March 2015)

GAO Jianmin
Makoto TANAKA (General Manager)
Masashi HARADA
PAN Yong
(resigned on 20 March 2015)

ZENG Jianjiang

Independent Non-executive Directors:
LONG Tao

SONG Xiaojiang

XU Bingjin

LIU Tianni

SUPERVISORS

MIN Qing (Chairman of the Supervisory Committee)
ZHOU Hong

LEI Bin

COMPANY SECRETARY
PRC: WU Nianging
(resigned on 20 March 2015)

Hong Kong: TUNG Tat Chiu Michael

AUDIT COMMITTEE

SONG Xiaojiang (Committee Chairman)
LONG Tao

XU Bingjin

LIU Tianni
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
SONG Xiaojiang (Committee Chairman)
DU Weidong

LONG Tao

XU Bingjin

LIU Tianni

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
DU Weidong (Committee Chairman)
LONG Tao

SONG Xiaojiang

XU Bingjin

LIU Tianni

CORPORATE INFORMATION AVAILABLE AT
Qingling Motors Co. Ltd

LEGAL ADDRESS

1 Xiexing Cun

Zhongliangshan

Jiulongpo District

Chongging

the People’'s Republic of China

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Suite 4901, 49th Floor

Office Tower, Convention Plaza

1 Harbour Road

Wan Chai, Hong Kong

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

www.gingling.com.cn

H SHARE REGISTRARS
Hong Kong Registrars Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East

Wan Chai, Hong Kong

H SHARE LISTING PLACE
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Stock code: 1122
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China, Chongging Branch

Bank of Communications, Chongging Branch

The Commercial and Industrial Bank of China, Chongging Branch
The Commercial and Industrial Bank of China, Zhongliangshan Office

AUDITORS

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP
8/F Office Tower W2

The Towers, Oriental Plaza

1 East Chang An Avenue

Beijing 100738

the People’s Republic of China

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
35/F, One Pacific Place
88 Queensway, Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISERS
as to Hong Kong laws:

Tung & Co.

Office 1601, 16/F

LHT Tower

31 Queen’s Road Central
Central, Hong Kong

Woo, Kwan, Lee & Lo
26/F, Jardine House

1 Connaught Place
Central, Hong Kong

as to PRC laws:

Haiwen & Partners

20/F Fortune Financial Center
5 Dong San Huan Central Road
Chao Yang District

Beijing 100020

the People’s Republic of China
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